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South Reading Clinical Commissioning Group 

Annual Report 2016-2017 
 

 

Welcome Message 
 
 
 
 

South Reading Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a membership organisation comprising 18 GP practices (as of March 2017). 
We spend about £150m on NHS services for the people of South Reading, including from 1 April 2016, primary care services, 
which has been delegated to the CCG to manage. 

 

The role of clinical commissioners is to decide on your behalf what services our local population needs. We do this by reviewing 
evidence which informs us what the health needs of our local population are in conjunction with feedback from our patients 
which tells us how you want these services delivered. We then work together with our local hospital, community services, local 
authority and GP practices and other community organisations to ensure the right services are in place and that we are working 
together. 

 

Over the last year we have seen changes to the membership of our Governing Body. In November, Dr Ishak Nadeem stood down 
as Chair after two years in the role. Also, Christopher Mott, Patient and Public Engagement Lay member also stood down following the end of his term of 
office. On behalf of the CCG, I would like to thank both Ishak and Christopher for all their help and support during their tenure. The past achievements of 
the CCG are partly attributable to their contribution in improving the health outcomes for our local population. 

 

As with previous years, 2016-17 was incredibly busy, filled with both areas of success and areas that still require improvement. Reviewing our performance 
as a Clinical Commissioning Group over the last year, this can be summarised as: 

 
• We supported ‘Beat the Street’, a points based game encouraging activity to help combat rising levels of obesity, in particular in our primary school 

age children. Between April and June, 23,000 people took part in Reading travelling 232,000 miles. 
• We exceed the target to reduce the percentage of people with HbA1c greater than 75 by 2% from 18.6% to 16.2%. 
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• We exceeded the national dementia target of 67% achieving 71.7% by March 2017. 
• The CCG has focussed on delivering its Primary Care Strategy and a key outcome of this is the formation of an Alliance. The South Reading Alliance 

comprises 16 out of the 18 GP practices in South Reading with the remainder forming together as a Hub. Primary care delivered at scale will enable 
the sharing of both the clinical and administrative workforce as well as developing an ‘interoperable solution’ to allow practices to communicate 
with each other and share extended hours appointments. This achievement shows that South Reading is at the forefront of changes in primary 
care. 

• We have begun to make progress against our plan to increase the early diagnosis and reduce emergency presentations of cancer. With funding 
from Macmillan, we have recruited a community development cancer educator to work with our underserved populations and highlight the 
importance of cancer screening. This is a two year project and, realistically, there is a long way to go before we begin to see improvements in 
screening rates as a result of this focus. In addition to community education, GPs and nurses received a cancer education afternoon in November. 

• We have made significant progress towards reducing the rate of active tuberculosis in South Reading. We have promoted the new entrant 
screening service and screened 190 people in the last year for latent TB. We have produced a public awareness campaign and promoted this across 
South Reading and at World TB day on 24 March. 

• All of our practices are enrolled in the National Diabetes Prevention Programme which aims to identify patients at risk of developing diabetes to 
make changes to their lifestyle to prevent this disease. 199 patients (12%) have enrolled on to the programme. 

• We continue to work with Reading Borough Council colleagues to improve joint working and provide better services across health and social care 
as part of the Better Care Fund. 

 
We have reflected that there are still areas for improvement. The CCG did not increase the intended number of patients with a diagnosis of COPD achieving 
1,473 against a target of 1,487. We also did not achieve our target to increase the number of patients with a diagnosis of hypertension achieving 13,609 
(152 fewer than planned). We have adopted the hypertension target for 2017/18 and will build on the work undertaken in this year. 

 
We continue to listen and work with our key stakeholders, voluntary sector and patient engagement groups to commission high quality services that meet 
the local needs of our population. 

 
 
 
 

Dr Bu Thava, Chair, NHS South Reading CCG 
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Performance Report 

 

Overview 
From the outset, the CCG has demonstrated a clear commitment to  an open and transparent approach to  conducting our business and therefore 
throughout this document where appropriate we will refer to documents that are already in the public domain, many having been received at one of our 
regular Governing Body meetings. 

 

These annual report and accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 
2006. 

 

Referrals within this document are generally to web based resources however if you are reading this in paper copy and require any of the documents to 
which we refer in paper copy please contact the CCG who will be happy to provide these for you: southreadingccg@nhs.net 

 

As a statutory organisation the CCG operates through its Constitution. The Members have agreed to work together as the South Reading CCG in accordance 
with its Constitution, and to work with the other CCGs in Berkshire West in a Federation in accordance with the terms of the Federation Agreement. 

 

Who we are and how we work 
 

The CCG’s decisions are made by a governing body that meets every month. In 2016-2017 it consisted of 4 GP members, a Chief Officer, Joint 
Commissioning Director, Strategy Director, Chief Finance Officer/Acting Chief Finance Officer, two lay members, the CCG’s Operations Director and a 
Secondary Care Consultant. The Governing Body is elected by a GP Council, composed of GPs and practice managers from our 18 member GP practices. 
Day-to-day CCG management is led by an operational director supported by a CCG manager and an administrator. 

 

South Reading CCG works closely with partner CCGs in North and West Reading, Newbury and District and Wokingham as part of the Berkshire West 
Federation of CCGs. The Federation shares a team of senior managers and a Chief Officer. Functions such as communications and engagement, finance, 
procurement, human resources and information technology are provided by the South Central and West Commissioning Support Unit. 

 

Who we work with 
 

We commission healthcare from a wide variety of providers, working closely with the main acute services provider in the area, the Royal Berkshire NHS 
Foundation Trust, Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (for community and mental health services) as well as a number of private and voluntary 
sector partners. 

 

From 1 April 2016, the CCG had fully delegated responsibility for the commissioning of Primary Care (GP Services) 
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The CCG has formed an Accountable Care System with the other CCGs in West Berkshire, Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust, Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust and GP providers. We are also part of the Berkshire, Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire STP. 

 

We also work closely with our partners in Reading Borough Council, who commission social care services and are also responsible for public health.  We are 
members of the Health and Well Being Boards of the Council. 

 

Our population and demography 
 

The CCG covers part of Reading and the specific characteristics and health needs of our population are contained with the ‘Public Health Locality profile’. In 
2016, the registered patient population was 136,364 over ten wards. The key characteristics of our patient population are: 

 

• The 2011 census show that 30.5% of the resident population is from a Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) group. An additional 10.6% are from a White 
non-British background such as White Irish, Irish, Traveller, Gypsy or European. 

• A larger proportion of younger adults (aged 20-44) compared to the national average 
• High areas of deprivation with three wards in the 20% most deprived nationally 
• A lower life expectance rate than the national average for both men and women 
• The number of children aged 4-11 who are overweight and obese is higher than the national average 

 
Statement of Purpose and Activities 
As a Clinical Commissioning Group, we have the statutory responsibility to plan, commission and performance-manage a range of local health services for 
people in the South Reading area, including: 

 
•Urgent and emergency care (including NHS 111, Accident and Emergency, Reading Walk-in Centre, and ambulance services) 
•Out-of-hours primary medical services 
•Elective (Planned) hospital care 
•Community health services (such as rehabilitation services, speech and language therapy, wheelchair services, and home oxygen services) 
•Maternity and new-born services (excluding neonatal intensive care) 
•Children's healthcare services (mental and physical health) 
•Mental health services (including talking therapies) 
•NHS continuing healthcare 
•General practice (responsibility delegated by NHS England from April 2016) 
•Healthcare for veterans, reservists and armed forces families 
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Better Care Fund (BCF) 

 
Better Care Fund Metrics (Reading) 
In line with our local Health and Wellbeing Strategy, by 2019 our vision is for Reading residents to be empowered to live well for longer at home. In order 
for this to become a reality, it will require health and social care to work together, with families and carers as expert partners. 

 
Since we wrote our Better Care Fund Plan in 2014, the population of Reading continues to grow. Census data from 2001 and 2011 indicate an increase of 
11,300 people in the population of Reading borough in that time period and annual estimates indicated continued population growth. There has been an 
11% increase in the past 10 years to the most recently available population figure of 160,825 in 2014. There has been an increase in the population across  
all age bands with the greatest increase seen in the 0-5 year old population (43% increases in 10 years). Recent population projections show that this 
increase in overall population is likely to continue to increase over the next 10 years though the increase is now no longer predicted to be greatest in the 0-  
5 year old population. However, it should be noted that these projections do not take into account planned housing developments in the area with these 
and other developments affecting the local area such as Crossrail being likely to attract new residents. We continue to see extremes of wealth and although 
poverty and deprivation have improved in some areas, there are areas of Reading that have seen further deterioration in their level of deprivation when 
compared to the England average. We have, however, also made some good progress in the last year: 

 
• There has been a reduction in the number of adults smoking – Current rates - South Reading 14.79%, England 16.41% (2015 figs) 
• A reduction in the number of under 16 year olds who are obese 
• Hip fractures have been reducing, in the main, over recent years 
• There has been a reduction in people under 75 years dying from liver disease. 
• Fewer pre-school children are estimated to have a mental health problem 
• There has been an Increase in the numbers of people /carers requiring social services assessments who have been assessed and cared for in their 

own home. 
• The number of people requiring residential care has remained stable in 2016/17(Care Homes and Nursing Homes) 
• There has been an increase in satisfaction with social care support in 2015/16 

There is still a great deal of work to be done and we have revised and agreed new plans for better integration (joining up of services) for 2017/19. 
 

The Challenges and the Case for Change 
 

The key metrics within the Better care Fund for 16/17 were: 
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 Increasing numbers of emergency , unplanned admissions to hospital (Non Elective Admissions) 
 Delays in sending people home after a stay in hospital (Delayed transfers of care ) 
 Increasing demand for adult social care support and for places in care homes (placement in residential care) 

 
Increasing numbers of emergency, unplanned admissions to hospital 

 
The two Reading CCGs remain in the lowest 5 CCGs in England for emergency unplanned admissions to hospital this makes further reduction extremely 
challenging and increases in admissions with a growing and ageing population, is almost inevitable. 
Significant programmes of work are already in place to help manage this.  However, during 2016/17 we have seen a 1.7% growth for South Reading and 
2.5% for North & West Reading in emergency, unplanned admissions to hospital against a plan of 2.2% 

 
North & West Reading 

CCG 
South Reading CCG 

Base line total NEA activity 15/16 8,608 10,766 
Actual 16/17 8,819 10,952 
% growth in NEA 2.5% 1.7% 

 

 
To date, within the Better care Fund, specific work carried out, particularly focusing on care homes (BCF Scheme 02) during 2015/16 has delivered training 
and education and has seen a reduction of 72 (20%) in the number of unplanned admissions to hospital, (from the targeted care homes) when compared to 
2014/15, but this has been lower than the original plan for a 50% reduction.  A full review of the scheme has been carried out and our learning has allowed 
us to refocus this scheme during 2015/16 and into 2016/17. The new revised service will provide rapid response and assessment to people in care homes 
through a dedicated team, led by a consultant specialising in the care of older people. 

 
Within 2016/17 schemes were put in place at the Willows and in the Community Reablement Team (CRT) using the Rapids and Reablement Team service to 
reduce NEAs. In total 152 people used these services, as opposed to being admitted to hospital, resulting in reduced NEAs 

 
Delays in sending people home after a stay in hospital 
Delayed Transfers of Care (DToCs) are effectively people stranded in the wrong place and behind each number is a personal story. By working in partnership 
to reduce delays we have helped many people avoid the situation whereby they remain in a hospital setting when they no longer need this level of hospital 
care. 
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The highest reasons for delay are further NHS care, care packages in the community, care home admissions and patient and family choice. Reading has seen 
a significant increase in delays from hospital. The increases peaked in November but work has been done to bring these back under control in recent 
months. 

 
Increasing demand for adult social care support and for places in care homes 
Adult social care costs during 2016/17 have increased, resulting in significant cost pressures within Reading Borough Council. Reading also has a high level 
of placements into residential care with 2016/17 seeing this level of admissions stabilising. However, our Better Care Fund “Discharge to Assess” Scheme 
has played a part in helping address this demand, through the reablement of people who can and should go back to their home. 

 

 
 

Our “Plan on a Page” for 2016-2017, which is shared with the other CCGs in Berkshire West is given below along with our local 
plan which supports delivery. 
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South Reading CCG Local Plan 2016-17 

 
• Increase early diagnosis and reduce emergency presentations of cancer 
• Promote healthy lifestyles/services (physical activity, obesity, smoking cessation, alcohol consumption, oral health) preventing/addressing CVD, 

diabetes, preventable hospital admissions 
• Increase physical activity through Beat the Street – increasing participation rates by 15% & inactivity levels by 10% 
• Improve prevention of diabetes and care of patients with diabetes by practices participating in NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme 
• Continue to promote NHS Health Checks by targeting areas with greatest health inequalities 
• Provide accessible, good quality and sustainable primary care services for the patient population now and into the future by commissioning primary 

care services for clusters of 25,000 – 30,000 patients. 
• Quality premium 1: Increase number on Hypertension register by 15% 
• Quality Premium 2: Decrease the % of patients with HbA1c > 75mmol/mol by 2% 
• Quality premium  3: Increase the number on the COPD register by 5% 

 
 
South Reading CCG Local Plan 2017-18 

 
The CCG will continue to commission services based on evidence to ensure we are addressing the health and needs of our local population. In order to 
effectively achieve this we will continue to work in partnership with our local stakeholders including GP practices and Healthwatch while ensuring other 
formal quality mechanisms such as complaints and are also incorporated. 

 
Key areas of focus for 2017/18 include: 

 
• Working together with our partners to deliver efficiencies as part of an Accountable Care System 
• To ensure an effective and sustainable general practice through new workforce models, estates, access and technology 
• To better deliver outcomes for diabetics through better use of technology and enhanced access to education and improved care for those with 

complex needs 
• Work with Reading Borough Council to promote healthy lifestyles/services particularly decreasing inactivity and smoking rates 
• Continuing to support the collaboration of GP practices through the South Reading Alliance and University cluster to redesign the workforce, ensure 

sustainability and improve access 
• Participate in diabetes related prescribing targets to optimise medications to improve outcomes for diabetic patients 
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• Raising awareness of the signs and symptoms of cancer to improve outcomes for our patients 
• Increase the number of known hypertensives 
• Reduce the rates of active TB by increasing the number of patients screened for latent TB 
• Reviewing the local alcohol pathway to reduce the numbers of hazardous drinkers 
• Achieving the constitutional standards for A&E, cancer and referral to treatment 
• Provide a new integrated 24 hour urgent clinical assessment and treatment service 
• Redesign pathways and reduce clinical variation working with providers in orthopaedics, musculoskeletal, ophthalmology and develop new ways of 

delivering outpatients 
• Improve early diagnosis, increase screening rates and prevention, improve one year survival rate and access to recovery packages and enhanced 

end of life care 
• Implement Berkshire Transforming Care Plan 
• Transform mental health services in line with the Five Year Forward View and national standards, ensuring ‘parity of esteem’ by improving access, 

providing early intervention and integrating services 
• Ensuring high quality patient care is delivered by our commissioned services through the delivery of our Quality Improvement Strategy 2017-20. 
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Working with Local Authorities 
The CCG has worked closely with Local Authority, health and voluntary sector partners to support the delivery of the West Berkshire Health and Well Being 
Strategy the aim of which is to help people live longer, healthier, happier and more fulfilling lives and improve the health of the poorest, fastest. The 
establishment of a Berkshire West 10 Programme of work to deliver better integration of services by developing initiatives such as a single point of access 
“Hub”, Joint Care providers, enhanced support to and anticipatory care planning in care homes, redesign of the pathway of support for the Frail Elderly and 
identification of key workers and development of the ability to share information across health and social care 

 

The Better Care Fund is a national initiative whereby funding is transferred from Health to Social Care to create a pooled fund to further develop integrated, 
community services and support better care out of hospital. The CCG has worked with West Berkshire Council to agree a plan for the use of the pooled fund 
across the system to address the challenges of an increasingly elderly population, increasing growth in non-elective care, increasing A&E attendances 
creating pressure on urgent and emergency capacity, delayed transfers of care, increasing pressures on adult social care for community packages and care 
homes. 

 

The CCG is a member of the Reading Health and Well Being Board that is a partnership of the Local Commissioning Authorities, patient representatives and 
elected officials that can come together and take an overview of the health and social care system in the local area, with accountability to ensure the 
alignment of all health and social care commissioning activity. The Health and Wellbeing Board is being consulted on the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan footprint with the Accountable Officer framing the discussions. Dr Ishak Nadeem, Chair of the CCG (part year), was a member of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board, along with representatives from North and West Reading CCG. The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy continues 
to be developed with the CCG as a key contributor to that work with the aim of ensuring that the actions that support the strategy are aligned to 
improve outcomes for all residents. This joint working is a commitment for those who are resident in Reading and registered with a GP which is a 
constituent member of the CCG. 

 
Duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) 

 
NHS England requires the CCG to confirm that the Annual Report contains all the required statutory sections as dictated by the Health & Social Care Act 
2012, specifically that the Annual Report should: 

 

(a) explain how the clinical commissioning group has discharged its duties under sections 14R (Duty to improve quality), 14T (Duty to reduce 
inequalities) and 14Z2 (Duty to involve the public), and. 

 

(b) review the extent to which the group has contributed to the delivery of any joint health and wellbeing strategy to which it was required to have 
regard under section 116B(1)(b) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.. 

 

We certify that the CCG has complied with the statutory duties laid down on the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 
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The CCG will continue to promote the NHS Constitution and ensure that local providers adhere to all NHS constitution measures and access standards to 
provide patients with care in a timely manner in the most appropriate setting (further details are available through the following link: NHS Rights and 
Pledges. The CCG in developing and implementing its operational plan has promoted or supported the NHS constitution, supported the role of NHS 
England in direct commissioning, encouraged patient choice, promoted education, innovation and training, and improved engagement with patients and 
carers and with stakeholders and partners. The CCG is a member of the Reading Health and Well Being Board. 

 

Forward View 
2016/17 was another successful year for the CCGs in Berkshire West with strong performance on the standards set out in the NHS constitution meaning 
that patients in Berkshire West had timely access to operations and cancer treatments. The Berkshire West system also did very well compared with other 
systems nationally in reducing the time people had to wait to be seen in A&E. The CCGs' performance is assessed by NHS England through the Integrated 
Assurance Framework. For 2016/17 the CCG achieved an overall rating of Good and Outstanding for leadership. 

 

However, the underlying challenges faced by the CCGs and our health and social care partners remain the same. As the population ages more people are 
living with multiple, complex health conditions, housing growth is leading to population expansion and it is increasingly difficult to recruit the workforce we 
require. The CCGs face a greater financial challenge in 2017/18 than in previous years with a Quality, Improvement, Prevention and Productivity Plan of 
£25m, far greater than has been achieved in previous years. 

 

These challenges mean that the CCGs will be working with partners to accelerate the progress of the Accountable Care System that we established in 2016. 
The Berkshire West system has been identified by NHS England as one of 9 systems to go further faster on the delivery of the NHS Five Year Forward View 
and developing the ACS is the key priority for the system in 2017/18. The overall aims of the ACS are to: 

 

• Improve patient experience and outcomes 
• Achieve financial sustainability 

 

With the two Foundation Trusts in Berkshire West, the CCGs will develop new payment and contracting mechanisms that will move away from payment for 
volumes of activity to payment for delivering improved care pathways designed by clinicians and patients. The CCGs are supporting local GP practices to 
work together in "clusters" or "hubs" so that they can provide longer opening hours and improve access to primary care for patients. GPs will also be 
working more closely with hospital doctors who will increasingly work outside the Royal Berkshire Hospital in community hubs. 

 

In addition to delivering the improvement required by the Five Year Forward View in primary care, urgent care, mental health and cancer, the CCGs will 
prioritise: 

 

• The redesign of hospital outpatient services so that people with multiple conditions do not have to attend lots of different appointments and more 
care is provided in the community 

• Improvements in services for patients with respiratory and musculoskeletal skeletal conditions 
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• More support for people with long term conditions who experience anxiety and depression 
• Better help and support for patients who attend A and E frequently 

 

The CCGs remain firmly committed to strong partnership working with the three local authorities in our patch and in 2017/18 we will continue to work 
together to reduce the delays in people being able to leave hospital. We will work together to integrate health and social care services and provide a more 
coordinated experience for people who use our services. 

 

 
 

As well as improving care pathways the CCGs and their partners will work together to share back office functions, reduce their running costs and make the 
best use of public sector estate. 

 

In addition to our work in the local health and care system the CCGs will be contributing to the work programme of Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and 
Berkshire West (BOB) Sustainability and Transformation Plan. The Berkshire West system will lead on the following work streams: urgent care, maternity 
and prevention. 
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Financial Review 
NHS South Reading CCG met all of its statutory financial duties for 2016-2017. The CCG received revenue resource allocations of £156.3m and delivered a 
surplus of £1.4m in line with the plan. 

 

As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1 % reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting 
aside the monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View 
transformation priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means. In the event, the 
national position across the provider sector has been such that  NHS  England  has  been  unable  to  allow  CCGs’  1%  non-recurrent  monies  to  be 
spent. Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS South Reading CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus 
for the year of £1.5m. This additional surplus will be carried forward for drawdown in future years. 

 
The CCG also operated with the running cost allocation of £2.69m. 

 
The accounts have been prepared under a direction issued by NHS Commissioning Board under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) and specifically the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 c. 7 Schedule 2 s.17. The full financial results are set out in our 2016-2017 accounts which form an integral part of this report. 

 

The diagram below provides a breakdown of how we use the funding that we receive: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rebecca Clegg 
Acting Chief Finance Officer 
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Performance against Key Targets 

 
Introduction 
During 2016/17, the CCG performance for the Better Health and Better Care domains of the CCG assurance framework have been assessed as good by NHS 
England. Berkshire West CCGs have made significant improvement in Cancer waiting times and this has been nationally recognised by NHS England and the 
Secretary of State for Health. We are keen to make improvements in other areas of performance in 2017/18. 

 
The CCG works collaboratively with key providers, in particular our main provider of acute hospital services the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust, our 
main provider of mental health and community services Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust and South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust that provides our 999, 111 and patient transport services. We meet regularly in Clinical Quality Review Meetings, Contract Review Meetings and 
Performance Executive meetings where performance standards and associated action plans are reviewed and challenged. These meetings provide the CCG 
with assurance of action being taken by providers to ensure performance achievement or where performance is not being achieved the remedial actions 
being implemented to achieve performance. 

 
 

The Governing Bodies receive and discuss monthly a Performance Report that explains achievement against all NHS constitutional standards and other 
outcome metrics. 

 
 

Quality Premium: The achievement of measures is monitored closely through the year and included in the Performance Report to the Governing Body. 
During 2016/17 the CCG was awarded with quality premium money for achievement of measures during 2015/16. NHS South Reading CCG was 9th best 
performing CCG in the country for 2015/16. 

Page | 16  



 
Performance Analysis 

 
Referral to Treatment Times (RTT) 
The CCG has achieved the national RTT standard throughout 2016-17. There has been significant progress made around the number of patients who have 
had to wait over 52 weeks to start treatment as compared to 2015-16. In 2016-17, a Serious Incident was reported in relation to wait list issues where a 
cohort of patients were found to have been waiting longer than 52 weeks but missed from reporting. Clinical review of these patients has been carried out 
and no harm was reported as a result of these delays. Learning from this incident has been passed along to relevant teams. The backlog of these patients 
was cleared by the end of December and the numbers have gone back to the same as the beginning of the year. The CCG continues to closely monitor 
progress for long waits to ensure they are treated as quickly as possible. 

 

 
 
 

Time period 
NHS South Reading CCG - Incomplete RTT pathways (yet to start treatment) waiting 18 weeks or less from referral to 

hospital treatment 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Target >=92% 
2016-17 94.3% 95.1% 95.0% 94.4% 94.8% 94.3% 94.0% 93.8% 92.8% 92.2% 93.3% 92.6% 
2015-16 94.1% 93.8% 93.7% 94.5% 94.6% 94.0% 93.7% 94.0% 92.5% 93.0% 92.0% 93.7% 

 

 
 

 
Time period 

Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust - RTT wait over 52 weeks for incomplete pathway (yet to start treatment) 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2016-17 2 2 2 1 3 13 19 7 2 1 0 0 
2015-16 13 12 13 15 11 11 5 5 5 1 0 2 

 
Cancer Wait Times 
Cancer wait times’ performance for the CCG and Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (lead provider) has seen exceptional improvement throughout 
2016-17. The improvement for cancer wait times has been nationally recognised for both the provider and the CCG by NHS England. More recently the trust 
has received a letter from the Secretary of State for Health (Jeremy Hunt) for best improvement in the proportion of cancer patients receiving definitive 
treatment within 62 days of referral across the whole of England for Quarter 3 2016-17 as compared to previous year. The CCG has been working closely 
with the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust at operational and Executive level and with the national Intensive Support Team to ensure continued focus 
and improvement for cancer waiting times and this continues to be a high priority for the CCG. 
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Cancer Indicators (NHS South Reading CCG and Royal Berkshire Foundation Trust) 

 
 
 

Time period 

2wks 
Cancer 
(E.B.6) 

2wks 
Breast 
Cancer 
(E.B.7) 

31 Days 
All Cancer 

(E.B.8) 

31 Days 
Subsequent 

Cancer- 
Surgery 
(E.B.9) 

31 Days 
Subsequent 

Cancer- 
Drug 

(E.B.10) 

31 Days 
Subsequent 

Cancer- 
Radiotherapy 

(E.B.11) 

62 Days 
All Urgent 

Cancer 
(E.B.12) 

62 Days 
Ref from 

NHS 
Screening 
(E.B.13) 

62 Days 
Consultant 
Decision 

to 
Upgrade 
Patient 
(E.B.14) 

Target 93% 93% 96% 94% 98% 94% 85% 90% No target 
RBFT 2016-17 95.4% 97.1% 97.7% 94.5% 99.6% 96.5% 85.2% 87.1% 75.0% 
Breaches 2016-17 762 56 54 16 3 45 191 21  4.5 

RBFT 2015-16 77.5% 84.6% 96.4% 93.5% 99.2% 95.7% 74.2% 90.2% 54.5% 
Breaches 2015-16 3505 268 75 20 4 57 298 16 5 

CCG 2016-17 96.1% 97.1% 97.2% 98.4% 100.0% 98.7% 82.0% 83.3% 66.7% 
Breaches 2016-17 127 16 11 1 0 2 37 5 1 

CCG 2015-16 71.4% 76.7% 91.6% 86.3% 87.3% 86.5% 62.6% 82.6% 80.0% 
Breaches 2015-16 855 107 29 10 9 20 67 4 1 

Diagnostic Waits 
The national standard for diagnostic wait times below 6 weeks has been achieved on an annual basis for the CCG for 2016-17. 

 
 

Time 
period 

NHS South Reading CCG - Diagnostic tests - the percentage of users waiting 6 weeks or more from referral for a diagnostic 
test 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
Target <=1% 
2016-17 0.6% 0.7% 0.8% 0.4% 1.0% 0.9% 0.6% 0.2% 0.7% 1.0% 0.5% 0.6% 
2015-16 1.1% 0.2% 0.7% 1.2% 1.2% 1.5% 0.7% 0.8% 1.3% 1.1% 0.9% 1.3% 
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Mixed Sex accommodation 
RBFT has reported a significant number of breaches during the year, and has stated this is due to increased capacity pressures within the A&E department, 
resulting in pressures in the Medical Assessment Unit and Observation Bay. This has led to patients being cared for in mixed sex bays. CCG has gained 
assurance that all patients were informed and apology given. Care was taken to ensure privacy and dignity of these patients was upheld during their stay at 
the trust. There is review taking place to review the level of escalation in MAU and a patient experience survey for all affected patients is being developed. 

 

 
Time 

Period 
Mixed Sex Accommodation (MSA) Breaches - Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
2016/17 17 74 22 15 19 39 97 40 71 190 95 54 
2015/16 0 0 0 17 53 34 0 9 6 6 108 68 

 
A&E 4 hours 
A&E performance in 2016-17 remained challenging and despite continued focus on performance the national standard for A&E was not achieved for the 
majority of the year. The year-end performance for RBFT was 92.1%. Performance was challenged for a number of reasons including: 

 
• Increased demand (5.6% increased attendances in 2016-17 vs. 2015-16) 
• Winter pressures which extended in to Q1 2016/17 
• An increase in ‘bed days lost’ to people awaiting onward care 

 
Performance is reviewed monthly at the A&E Delivery Board which has a firm focus on delivery and improvements across the health and social care system. 
Despite the challenges Berkshire West continues to perform well compared to other systems in the Thames Valley and also nationally. In 2016/17 the work 
programme of A&E Delivery Board was framed around the Five Nationally Mandated Actions for A&E: 

 
1. Streaming at the Front Door – to Ambulatory and Primary Care. 
2. NHS 111 calls transferred  to clinicians 
3. Ambulances – Dispatch on Disposition (DoD) and coding pilots 
4. Improved flow 
5. Improved discharge processes 
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Other key pieces of work included a focus on frequent attenders at A&E, a deeper understanding of non-elective activity profiles and mental health 
(including delays). 
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Time period 

Thames Valley A&E Performance (2016-17) 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

National Standard >=95% 
Royal Berkshire NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 
91.1% 

 
93.2% 

 
95.3% 

 
91.0% 

 
94.3% 

 
90.2% 

 
93.1% 

 
93.3% 

 
91.8% 

 
88.3% 

 
91.3% 

 
94.5% 

Oxford University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust 

 
87.6% 

 
87.0% 

 
88.2% 

 
87.6% 

 
86.6% 

 
82.8% 

 
73.9% 

 
94.2% 

 
91.1% 

 
84.8% 

 
82.3% 

 
87.1% 

Great Western Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 
87.7% 

 
93.4% 

 
92.4% 

 
87.4% 

 
90.1% 

 
89.5% 

 
85.3% 

 
83.2% 

 
82.0% 

 
82.3% 

 
79.8% 

 
84.4% 

Frimley Health Foundation 
Trust 

 
93.7% 

 
95.2% 

 
93.0% 

 
90.0% 

 
88.5% 

 
95.9% 

 
94.9% 

 
91.3% 

 
88.7% 

 
84.7% 

 
91.2% 

 
91.4% 

Buckinghamshire Health NHS 
Trust 

 
91.4% 

 
89.4% 

 
93.7% 

 
91.8% 

 
92.6% 

 
91.9% 

 
90.1% 

 
87.9% 

 
87.6% 

 
86.9% 

 
88.8% 

 
92.6% 

Gloucestershire Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust 

 
85.4% 

 
87.4% 

 
87.1% 

 
86.0% 

 
90.7% 

 
88.9% 

 
86.0% 

 
86.6% 

 
74.1% 

 
74.6% 

 
77.0% 

 
77.8% 

Royal United Hospitals Bath 86.9% 87.6% 81.4% 82.3% 79.6% 88.1% 91.4% 91.3% 85.9% 73.7% 79.6% 80.6% 
Salisbury NHS Foundation 
Trust 

 
90.5% 

 
94.1% 

 
92.8% 

 
90.1% 

 
93.6% 

 
92.8% 

 
92.5% 

 
89.5% 

 
89.0% 

 
84.8% 

 
84.7% 

 
92.7% 

 
Ambulance response times 
In 2016/17 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SCAS) has struggled to deliver the ambulance response time standards for Red 1, Red 2 
and Red 19 for the Thames Valley contract. This was due to a number of factors, including workforce pressures due to difficulties in recruiting to paramedic 
posts, sickness amongst staff and increased demand especially during the winter months. SCAS has achieved the national standards at the end of the year 
as a requirement of its remedial action plan. 
From October 2017 onwards, the trust are required to implement the recommendations from the national work stream regarding Ambulance Response 
(Ambulance Response Programme). As part of this, the current national measures will be replaced with new measures to review Ambulance Performance. 

Page | 21  



 
 
 

National Measure 
South Central Ambulance Service Performance Thames Valley (2016-17) 

 

Target Apr- 
16 

 

May-16 Jun- 
16 

 

Jul-16 Aug- 
16 

Sep- 
16 

Oct- 
16 

Nov- 
16 

Dec- 
16 

Jan- 
17 

Feb- 
17 

Mar- 
17 

Red 1: Percentage of ambulance 
calls resulting in an emergency 
response arriving within 8 
minutes 

 
 

>=75% 

 
 

75.5% 

 
 

76.1% 

 
 

74.1% 

 
 

67.9% 

 
 

72.2% 

 
 

69.6% 

 
 

70.5% 

 
 

72.5% 

 
 

72.9% 

 
 

73.9% 

 
 

76.4% 

 
 

77.0% 

Red 2: Percentage of ambulance 
calls resulting in an emergency 
response arriving within 8 
minutes 

 
 

>=75% 

 
 

76.5% 

 
 

75.6% 

 
 

75.6% 

 
 

71.5% 

 
 

74.5% 

 
 

72.9% 

 
 

72.6% 

 
 

72.7% 

 
 

71.2% 

 
 

73.1% 

 
 

75.7% 

 
 

74.9% 

Red 19: Percentage of calls 
resulting in an ambulance 
arriving at the scene within 19 
minutes 

 
 

>=90% 

 
 

96.4% 

 
 

95.4% 

 
 

94.6% 

 
 

93.1% 

 
 

95.0% 

 
 

93.7% 

 
 

93.8% 

 
 

94.2% 

 
 

93.5% 

 
 

94.2% 

 
 

95.4% 

 
 

95.4% 

 
Dementia Diagnosis Rate 
The CCG continues to achieve the national dementia diagnosis standard of 67% during majority of 2016/17. The CCG continues to follow the national advice 
on identifying patients and are reviewing their local action plans through their management executive meetings. The CCG continues to work on maintaining 
the national standard and has undertaken a number of actions to try and address and increase the diagnosis rate. This includes individual practice visits, 
data searching and care home visits, and supporting healthcare professionals with tools to better diagnose people with Dementia. All the GP practices 
across the CCG are actively working to be recognised as dementia-friendly. 

 
Time 

Period 
NHS South Reading CCG - Dementia Diagnosis Rates 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
Target >=67% 
2016/17 67.2% 68.2% 68.4% 70.5% 72.0% 72.8% 72.9% 71.2% 71.9% 70.2% 71.9% 71.7% 
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Healthcare associated infections (HCAI) 
The CCG has exceeded the nationally set objective (limit) for clostridium difficile. The CCG had 22 cases during the year against an objective of 20. Of the 
total cases identified 5 cases originated from 2 patients as they were complex cases. Where potential lapses in care have been found, learning has been 
cascaded as appropriate. A detailed review of all cases is done monthly by the Infection Control Nurse in the CCG to identify root cause. 

 
There have been no cases identified for MRSA bacteraemia in 2016/17. 

 
Time 

Period 
NHS South Reading CCG - Clostridium difficile (C. difficile) counts in patients aged 2 years and over 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
Target 1 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 1 1 1 1 
2016/17 2 1 2 5 0 4 2 1 1 1 2 1 

 
 

Time 
Period 

NHS South Reading CCG - MRSA 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2016/17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Quality and Safeguarding 
The CCG has a comprehensive Quality strategy in place, which will be updated in 2017 and is further supported by a Quality Policy. Quality is at the heart 
of all we do. The NHS defines quality as effectiveness, safety and the provision of an excellent patient experience. Delivering compassionate, high quality 
care focused on outcomes is at the very heart of our clinical values and by establishing a shared understanding of quality and a commitment to place it at 
the centre of everything we do, the CCG has a unique and important opportunity to continually improve and safeguard the quality of local NHS services for 
everyone, now and for the future. The full Quality Strategy can be found on our website: 

 

www.southreadingccg.nhs.uk 
 

The CCG exercises this responsibility through the quality committee, where information and data is scrutinised and any issues with provider performance 
challenged. The quality committee reports monthly to the Governing Body, under the structure of the three domains of quality: 

 

Patient experience (including complaints, Friends and Family Test, patient surveys and information from the NHS Choices website and provider 
data) 
Patient safety (including serious incidents, falls, pressure damage, suicides and unexpected deaths and NHS Safety Thermometer information) 

 

Clinical effectiveness (including provider compliance with national guidance NICE and National clinical audit) 
 

During 2016/17 there were both National and Local Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINs) schemes in place to incentivise joint working across 
the health economy to achieve the goal of improving quality through integrated working. 

 

An Integrated Quality and Performance Report for all the main providers has been introduced during 2016/17, including the independent sector and those 
providers of who we are associate commissioners in order to provide assurance narrative regarding actions taken. This is monitored and scrutinised 
monthly with the provider in order to ensure patient safety. 

 
Learning from National Reviews 
We have a robust process for reviewing any national publications e.g. ‘Mazars report’ (December 2015) and ensuring that the learning and any 
recommendations for both us as commissioners and our providers are acted upon. Additionally, the CCG have systems in place in order to be appraised of 
national directives which require action from providers e.g. National Guidance on Learning from Death – A Framework for NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation 
Trusts on identifying, Reporting, Investigating and Learning from Deaths in Care, National Quality Board, (March 2017). The CCG uses provider Clinical 
Quality Review Meetings to scrutinize action plans from national reviews and monitor progress being made. The quality committee subsequently has the 
responsibility on behalf of the Governing Body to monitor progress and ensure changes are embedded from these reviews, providing assurance to the 
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Governing Body through a chairs report.  The CCG will continue to challenge healthcare providers to support on-going improvements in the quality of care 
provided to ensure that quality and patient safety is an integral feature of commissioned services. 

 

This will be achieved through robust processes to seek assurance from providers to ensure that: 
 

Fundamental standards and measures of compliance are always met 
They demonstrate openness and fulfil duty of candour 
They promote and provide compassionate, caring and committed nursing 
Commitment to safer staffing based on patient cohort 
They promote strong healthcare leadership 
They provide information and data that is transparent to service users and the public 

 
The CCG is committed to working with all hospitals and organisations providing healthcare in our area to ensure that our patients receive the best possible 
care, have a positive experience of healthcare and are treated safely. We will continually improve the quality of the services we commission by both 
listening and responding to the views of our patients, carers and the wider community. Along with the other 3 CCGs in Berkshire West, we have undertaken 
quality assurance visits to a variety of clinical and non clinical areas across all services and providers during this past year. These visits are led by the Nurse 
Director and where possible, involve CCG lay members and members of the Board. These visits have allowed us to see firsthand the quality of care being 
delivered to our patients, allowed us to speak to patients and their families and directly to staff. We feedback immediately to management on any findings, 
both positive and negative and provide a short report highlighting any recommendations to providers within 10 days of the visit. These reports are 
scrutinised through the quality committee and examples taken to Governing Body meetings. 
Through this work we will ensure that the patient remains at the centre and that a culture of openness, transparency and candour is promoted throughout 
the system. 

 
Safeguarding 
As a public sector organisation the CCG has a statutory duty to make arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people and 
to protect vulnerable adults from abuse or the risk of abuse.  We are committed to fulfilling this function to a high quality standard. 

 

Commissioning organisations also have a responsibility to ensure that all providers from whom we commission services (both public and independent 
sector) have comprehensive single and multi-agency policies and procedures to meet these requirements. 

 

We have ensured that systems and processes are in place to fulfil specific duties of co-operation and that best practice is embedded. All contracts and 
service level agreements (SLAs) have required providers to adhere to Berkshire-wide safeguarding policies and procedures which promote the welfare of 
adults and children and quality schedules within contracts have included key safeguarding metrics.  Contracts have also required all providers to complete 
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an annual audit based on section 11 of the Children Act (2004) (adapted to include safeguarding adults) and to provide assurance of compliance with 
required staff training and continuing professional development so that staff have an understanding of their roles and responsibilities in regards to 
safeguarding children, adults at risk, children looked after, the Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. The CCG has used contract levers 
to take action when provider performance is not meeting the standards required i.e. non-compliance with safeguarding training, which has led to 
improvement with all of our provider organisations in 2016/17. Where training compliance has not been met, full scrutiny of a Trust remedial action plan 
and contractual mechanisms have been utilised in order to drive improvements regarding the statutory responsibility. Providers must inform 
commissioners of all incidents involving children and adults, including death or harm whilst in their care. 

 

In order to fulfil its responsibilities effectively the CCG operates within the legislative framework of the Children Act 1989/2004 and the Care Act 2014 in 
upholding the safeguarding of both children and adults. The CCG promotes the following general principles as set out in ‘Working Together to Safeguard 
Children’ HM Government 2015 which are; 

 

 ensure that all affected children receive appropriate and timely therapeutic and preventative interventions 
 professionals who work directly with children should ensure that safeguarding and promoting their welfare forms an integral part of all stages 

of care they offer 
 professionals who come into contact with children, parents and carers in the course of their work also need to be aware of their safeguarding 

responsibilities 
 ensure that all health professionals can recognise risk factors and contribute to reviews, enquiries and child protection plans, as well as 

planning support for children and providing ongoing promotional and preventative support through proactive work 
 Safeguarding children standards should be included in all clinical contracts. 

 
The CCGs’ Nurse Director has provided senior clinical leadership and oversight of safeguarding arrangements at Board level for both Adults and Children 
and is supported by the Head of Safeguarding Children and Head of Safeguarding Adults, who represent the CCG on the three Safeguarding Children Boards 
West of Berkshire and the Berkshire West Safeguarding Adults Board respectively. 

 

The CCG is fully committed to the safeguarding boards’ priorities and ensure that all our providers are fully engaged in working in partnership to deliver 
health elements of these priorities. 

 

The Head of Safeguarding Children incorporates the statutory function of the Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children role. The Head of Safeguarding 
Adults leads on the PREVENT agenda for the CCGs. The Safeguarding Team is supported by dedicated administration, thus ensuring that communication, 
resource and expertise is available to lead this important agenda. 

 

Recently added to the team is the Designated Nurse for Looked After Children function, appointed to meet this statutory function for the very vulnerable 
cohort of Looked After Children across the West of Berkshire. 
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We are also committed to using this enhanced resource to support the improvement in safeguarding practice across primary care providers in Berkshire 
West supported by the Named GP function. 

 

 
Primary Care 
The CCG took on delegated responsibility for the commissioning of primary care services from NHS England with effect from 1st April 2016, building on joint 
commissioning arrangements in place in the previous year. Delegated responsibilities are discharged through the Joint Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee which is constituted in line with NHS England guidance and meets quarterly in public, reporting into the Governing Body and to the QIPP and 
Finance Committee in respect of investment decisions. 

 
The initial work programme for the Primary Care Commissioning Committee during 2016-17 reflected the Berkshire West Primary Care Strategy and was 
informed by the above local priorities as they relate to primary care. Over the course of the year this work programme wand the priorities within it were 
amended to reflect the GP Forward View (GPFV) published by NHS England in April 2017. Our local strategy for primary care has now been amalgamated 
into our local GPFV implementation plan which was developed as part of the 2017-18 planning process and will drive the work of the Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee during 2017-18. 

 
Key areas progressed in 2016-17 were as follows: 

 
• Effective transition of functions delegated from NHS England. 
• Local specification for APMS contracts finalised. 
• Review of Anticipatory Care CES which supports proactive care planning for patients at risk of admission. 
• Further development of local strategy for primary care estates including detailed plans for ensuring there is capacity to meet population growth. 
• Successful bids against Estates and Technology Transformation Fund (ETTF) in respect of premises and IM&T infrastructure developments. 
• Continued joint working with the University of Reading on the local programme to train Physicians’ Associates. 
• Successful piloting and local bids for funding to support development of clinical pharmacist roles in primary care. 
• Supported training for administrative staff with a view to improving efficiency in primary care delivery. 
• Identification of vulnerable practices and provision of support around resilience and future business planning. 
• Supporting emerging at-scale primary care provider organisations.  These are being formed by our existing GP practices working together to build 

future resilience and to expand the range of services provided in primary care. 
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• Successful bid to Health Education Thames Valley to establish a Community Education Provider Network (CEPN) to support workforce planning and 

continued professional development across ACS partners. 
 
Further key priorities for 2017-18 as outlined in our local implementation plan for the GPFV are: 

• Continuing to work with the emerging at-scale primary care provider organisations in Berkshire West, supporting them to work as part of the 
developing ACS. 

• Developing a plan for delivery of the GPFV extended access requirements (all patients to have access to bookable and on-the-day appointments in 
primary care 8am-8pm Monday-Friday and on Saturdays and Sundays by 2018). Ensuring appropriate IT infrastructure and links to broader urgent 
care system are in place. 

• Building online consultation and triage offer for patients across Berkshire West. 
• Further development of our strategy for primary care estates. 
• Full establishment of the CEPN and related workstreams to develop new roles in primary care, build primary care training provision and improve 

recruitment and retention. 
• Supporting practices to access national GPFV funding streams and programmes aimed at diversifying the primary care workforce and managing 

workload. 
• Exploring new contractual approaches which will underpin new primary care delivery models. 

 
Urgent Care – Key Achievements 
The A&E Delivery Board continued to foster strong and effective partnership working to ensure the effective planning and delivery of urgent and emergency 
care services across the patch. Key achievements in urgent and emergency care in 2016-17 included; 

 
• Re-procurement of a new Thames Valley Integrated Urgent Care service which will launch in September 2017 
• Increase in the number of patients contacting 999 who were treated in the community and not taken to hospital 
• More patients treated on ambulatory care pathways at the hospital avoiding the need for an overnight stay 
• Continued funding for paramedics to work out of a ‘First Stop Bus’ located in Reading Town centre at times of peak social activity 
• Social workers based at the hospital supporting a seamless transition out for those needing care at home following discharge 
• A mental health team located at the hospital providing support to patients who attend the Emergency Department with a mental health issue 
• Increased focus on reducing the amount of time people spend in hospital awaiting onward care with improved performance towards the end of the 

year. 
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Transforming Care 
The Berkshire Transforming Care Programme Board that comprises 7 CCGs, Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust and the 6 Berkshire local authorities has 
implemented key stages of the Transforming Care plan. This plan aims to reduce the reliance on in-patient plans through developing an Intensive Support 
Team in the community. The Transforming Care Plan is a national requirement aimed at transforming services for people of all ages with a learning 
disability and/or autism who display behaviour that challenges, including those with a mental health condition, in line with Building the Right Support – a 
national plan to develop community services and close inpatient facilities. 

 
The Berkshire Transforming Care Plan aims to reduce the reliance on in-patient beds by 50% by 2018/19 and are already ahead of this target and have 
suspended 7 in-patient beds. The Berkshire vision will be achieved through the development of an Intensive Support Team in the community who will 
deliver a ‘Positive Living Model. This model of care will be achieved through:- 

a) Strengthening the role of the community teams for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and develop a workforce strategy that provides 
consistency across services regardless of where people live, delivers equality and promote a positive culture. 

b) Promote greater support to Carers and families of people with learning disabilities and/ or autism. 
c) Offering people with learning disabilities and/ or autism a choice of where and who they choose to live with to lead everyday lives. 
d) Developing a provider market that will support people to realise their aspirations and maintain wellbeing. 
e) Collaborate and strengthen the role of the LD Partnership Boards to access engagement with   people with lived experience to deliver the TCP. 
f) Utilise existing beds differently and creatively to offer respite and short term interventions with robust plans for discharging people back into the 

community with the support from well-developed community teams for people with learning disabilities, the voluntary sector, housing and day 
care facilities. 

g) Promote greater access to advocacy to support choice and a voice for people with lived experience. 
h) Strengthen the role of Primary Care to support health and wellbeing. 

 
The Programme has achieved momentum and was awarded national and regional funds to strengthen community support, these include supporting people 
to purchase their own properties, capital to purchase a property,  technology  funds  and  Transformation  Funds  to  develop  an  Intensive  Support 
Team. Further funding for renovating redundant properties is underway. 
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Work Streams & Milestones achieved during 2016-17 and Plans for 2017-18 
Work Stream Description 

• Finance & Activity Group Achieved funding Capital and Revenue funding from NHSE and the Department of Health to purchase a property, home 
ownership scheme, technology fund. 
Achieved the suspension of 6 in-patient beds releasing funds to support an Intensive Support Team in the community. 
Will explore new opportunities for pooled budget arrangements during 2017-18 to develop joint Health and Social Care 
funding processes. 

• Children & Young People This workstream has progressed and Children’s Services are in the process of gathering information to support 
transition plans. 
During 2017/18 develop informational sharing criteria across education and health for LD and ASD people at high risk 
of admission. 
Implement joint commissioning standards Berkshire wide 

• Workforce Development and 
Culture 

This workstream has progressed and held a workshop with key stakeholders 
Co-production underway with an Expert by Experience to undertake an audit of the current workforce within all 
provider services in Berkshire and develop a programme of training to achieve consistency. 
During 2017-18 develop training modules for primary care and third sector staff on LD and ASD, linked to Autism and 
CYP work streams 

• Primary Care Workstream established with Carer Expert by Experience to oversee the development of a process to increase the 
number of people accessing annual health checks 75% by 31st March 2019 and looks at ways to improve the quality of 
these health 
Engage Practioners to support the Learning Disability Mortality reviews Programme 
Promote MENCAP and NHSE Campaign on Annual Health Checks 
Scope and support engagement to increase access to targeted national screening programmes. 
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Work Stream Description 
• Autism Agreed with partners to develop a separate workstream for Autism to develop joint commissioning standards around 

all age groups 
2017-18:- 
Align work stream objectives with Thames Valley Network, Future in Mind and SEND Groups to avoid duplication on 
priorities 
Engage fully with local people with Autism and the services that support them 
Include people with Autism in all relevant developments 
Enhance current support for people with Autism 

• Intensive Support Team Achieved Transformation Funds to support the development of an Intensive Support team 
Provider Trust started the recruitment process to develop a community team to deliver the Positive Behavioral Model 
of Care and enhance crisis support to manage risks. 
2017-18:- 
Decommissioning of beds at Little House as part of block contract 
To enhance services to effectively meet the needs of children and young people in transition 
To reconfigure services to further support people with Autism 

• Housing & 
Accommodation 

This workstream is well underway with Reading and Slough Borough Council’s leading the process to develop a Housing 
and Accommodation strategy. 
2017-18:- 
Shape private rented sector market place 
Identifying sites for new purpose built units 
Expand domiciliary care and short stay residential breaks provision 
Develop programme plan for High Impact Actions: Respite Care, Day Centres, Residential Living Accommodation, 
Independent Living Schemes 
Review CYP in transition plans 
Cascade recommendations to TCP Partners for opportunities to implement joint procurement exercise for housing and 
workforce providers for consideration and feedback 
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Mental Health 

 
Child and Adolescent 
• Improving access to emotional health and wellbeing services for children and young people in accordance with the recommendations of the NHS Future 

in Mind report (2015) continues to be a priority. Local transformation work has been undertaken in partnership with healthcare providers, Local 
Authorities, the voluntary sector, schools and service users. School based services have expanded with a focus on improving the knowledge and skills of 
school staff so that resilience is promoted, children who are identified as having emotional needs access lower intensity help earlier, the quality and 
accuracy of referrals to CAMHs improve and fewer children require specialist interventions. 

• Services have been remodelled to reduce risk and crisis presentations. A CAMHs urgent care service has been piloted and commissioned. Based at Royal 
Berkshire Foundation Trust, but also providing help in the community, the service provides wrap around care to the most vulnerable young people. The 
number of admissions to paediatric wards, the Place of safety and Tier 4 has reduced. Partners and young people report improvements in the quality 
and consistency of care. 

• Families whose children may have autism or ADHD can access help through services commissioned from the voluntary sector. System work is underway 
in each Local Authority area to improve join up between agencies who provide services for children with autism and ADHD. This is also part of the SEND 
work. 

• Health services to the youth justice system have been reviewed and a new integrated service specification has been developed to improve services, 
accountability and outcome monitoring. This will link with the new all age Liaison and Diversion service. 

• A number of Young SHaRON online support services have been developed, increasing the accessibility of help to families and concerned professionals. 
• The Berkshire wide CAMHs Community Eating Disorders service is fully staffed. 
• The Little Blue Book of Sunshine was developed and commissioned. It will be launched to young people ready for the summer 2017 public examination 

period #littlebluebookof sunshine. 
• Data quality on emotional health and wellbeing activity remains an issue nationally. Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (BHFT) are working 

with NHSE to improve reporting. 
 

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
• The CMMV Board has overseen the development of improved joint arrangements with the Local Authorities with regard to meeting the health needs of 

children and young people with Special Educational Needs and Disability in accordance with the Children and Families Act. The CCG Designated Clinical 
Officer has refreshed the health SEND self-assessment in partnership with BHFT and RBFT. A health action plan is being developed which will dovetail 
with the action plans in each of the 3 Local Authorities. Much of this work aligns with the Transforming Care and Future In Mind agendas. 

• The CMMV Board and Together for Child Health group have monitored changes to the Dingley centre and hydrotherapy service, both provided by RBFT. 
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Integrating Children’s Health Services 

• The CMMV Board has overseen greater integration of health services for children and young people. The Together For Child Health Group is now 
well established to identify opportunities to promote good system working between hospital and community settings; primary and secondary care; 
and paediatrics and general practice so that there are fewer barriers to the personalised and coordinated health services that patients need. 

• A bid was submitted to Together for Short Lives to embed learning from the Thames Valley funded transition pilot from child to adult health 
services. If successful this will extend the Ready Steady Go programme across a number of clinical specialties. A transition CQIN is in the BHFT 
contract to improve services. 

• BHFT undertook a major service reconfiguration to integrate community services into a single Children, Young People and Families (CYPF) service. 
The aim is to improve person and family centred working, give more consistent messages to families, enable families to get the help they need 
more swiftly and reduce duplication. Online support for families has been developed along with a Children’s Toolkit which provides advice to 
families. 

 
Looked After Children 

• Ensuring that the health needs of Looked After Children are assessed and met in a timely manner has been a focus in 2016/17. From April 2017 all 
health assessments are provided and coordinated by BHFT. 

 
Adult Mental Health 
For Adult Mental Health, the following developments have had a positive impact in 2016-17: 

 
• The CCGs have successfully secure national funding for Integrated IAPT for Long Term Conditions to be rolled-out in 2017-18 targeting Diabetes and 

COPD. 
• BHFT has delivered on 95% of trajectory to support mental health service users open to CMHTs receiving annual physical health checks as part of 

their care plan. 
• The Berkshire West 10 integrated board approved 2 years investment for the Street Triage Service as part of Better Care Fund with Local Authorities 

Partners following a successful pilot in 2016-17. 
• We have signed-off the Berkshire Wide Suicide Prevention Strategy with clear action to reduce suicide by 10% across the system with an ambitious 

target of zero by 2020. 
• In response to the MH FYFV we are aiming to set up service to achieve and deliver on the national recommendation of the FYFV mental health task 

force. 
• CCGs in partnership with BHFT have developed an Urgent Emergency Care SDIP to implement two separate service pathway i.e. Crisis Response 

Service and Intensive Home Treatment Service to reduce hospital admission and manage mental health crisis better in the community 
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Sustainability 
Measuring, monitoring and reporting on sustainability through the annual report supports the assurance process for meeting legal, reputational and policy 
requirements. The CCG is required to report its progress in delivering against sustainable development indicators. 

 

The CCG continues to develop plans to assess risks, enhance our performance and reduce our impact, including against carbon reduction, waste 
management and climate change adaptation objectives. This includes establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability across 
policy development, business planning and in commissioning. The CCG has a sustainability strategy. 

 

The CCG has increased its use of teleconferences and has promoted the use of public transport, cycling and/or walking to work to reduce the negative 
impact of transport on the environment and promote a healthy lifestyle. The CCG has through its “Beat the Streets” programme further encouraged 
patients and staff to incorporate exercise through walking into their daily lives. 2,409 business miles were claimed during the year. 

 

The CCG operates an effective recycling system as part of its approach to waste management and has increased the use of mobile technology to reduce its 
use of paper, ink and electricity. 

 

The CCG has participated in a “food bank” as part of our responsibility as a socially responsible employer and has removed unhealthy eating options from all 
catered meetings. 

 

We will ensure the clinical commissioning group complies with its obligations under the Climate Change Act 2008, including the Adaptation Reporting 
power, and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. 

 

The CCG in developing and implementing its operational plan has promoted or supported the NHS constitution, supported the role of NHS England in direct 
commissioning, encouraged patient choice, promoted education, innovation and training, improved patient engagement, including carers and with 
stakeholders and partners. 
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Patient and Public Involvement 
Under section 14Z2 of the Health and Social Care Act 2006 CCGs are asked to make arrangements for how they will involve patients and the public in 
commissioning planning, decision making and changes to proposals and plans that will impact upon individuals or groups and how health services are 
provided to them. 

 

Berkshire West CCGs engagement plans recognise that there are many different ways which people might participate in health depending upon their 
personal circumstances and interest and has the following arrangements in place: 

 

· The CCG follows the Patient and Public Participation Policy, and accompanying statement of arrangements and guidance, both published by NHS England. 
 

· A Berkshire West Communications and Engagement strategy is in place for 2014-2019 which sets out the local approach to patient and public involvement. 
From this, and the objectives set out in the annual operational plan, annual communication and engagement activity plans are established for the CCG. 

 
· Activities are reported and reviewed in a number of fora. These include: quarterly Clinical Commissioning Committee, lay member reports to CCG 
governing body meetings in public, and patient and public reference groups. The latter group membership includes representation from local patient 
participation groups, Healthwatch and health and social sector partners. 

 
In addition to awareness raising, preventative health and system resilience messages throughout the year, topics that were explored in-depth with patients 
during 2016/17 included: 

 
• Working in partnership with Cancer Research UK to provide promotional material on buses, bus stops and public spaces to promote the benefits of 

bowel cancer screening. 
• Increased engagement with our underserved populations with specific events aimed at the Polish and Nepalese community to improve uptake for 

cancer screening and to reduce unnecessary A&E attendances. Also participation in the Reading Borough Council Homeless Health Needs Audit. 
• Promotion of winter messages and the flu vaccinating in October in a shopping centre. 
• Public consultation on the Reading Health and Wellbeing strategy. 
• A campaign to promote Dry January. 
• A Tuberculosis communication and engagement campaign to raise awareness of latent tuberculosis and reduce the ‘Do Not Attend’ rate. 
• Refreshed booklet and app which provides support for parents with minor childhood illnesses help them access the right support at the right time. 
• A public event to promote the 2017/19 CCG operating plan. 

Page | 35  



 
Equality and Diversity 
The CCG is committed to embedding equality and diversity values into its policies, procedures, employment and commissioning processes, to ensure that 
there is equality of access and treatment for all, and that health inequalities are reduced. 

 
As required by the Public Sector Equality Duty, the CCGs have developed equality objectives, using the views, observations and comments of patients, 
carers and members of the public via our processes of engagement and outreach. These objectives are: 

 
• Make effective use of equality data within the commissioning of services and embed equality within Provider contracts. 
• Increase awareness of the Equality agenda for CCGs and their Membership practices. 
• Improve equality data collection across all protected characteristic groups and use this to inform service developments. 
• Improve training and development opportunities for staff at all levels for equality, diversity and human rights. 
• Ensure Board members and senior and middle managers have an understanding of equality, diversity and human rights so that equality is advanced 

within the organisation. 
 

In line with national requirements to review these objectives every four years, the CCG’s equality objectives will be reviewed in 2017/18. 

Key achievements in this area in 2016/17 include 

• Becoming a founder member of the Thames Valley Inclusion Network, which supports those with a role and responsibility for inclusion and diversity 
across the system to work together, exchange information and good practice, and support each other in the implementation of the Equality   
Delivery System, the Workforce Race Equality Standard and the Accessible Information Standard across the area. 

• Establishing a staff survey to better understand the make-up of the organisation with regards to protected characteristics, and better understand 
why staff choose not to share this information in demographic monitoring. 

 
The 2016/17 Equality Delivery System Evidence and Grading Report will be compiled in early 2017/18 and published on our website. 
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CCG Employees 
The CCG employs fewer than 150 employees and is therefore not required to publish information on employees. However, it receives from the CSU a 
workforce profile report, providing information on how well the CCG’s recruitment and selection processes work to reduce conscious or unconscious bias 
against characteristics protected by diversity legislation. 

 

The CCG has established a staff forum to provide a regular and effective means of joint discussion between senior management and staff on issues of 
mutual interest or concern, and to foster maximum involvement of all partners in effective communications, engagement and consultation on working 
practices and employment. 

 

The CCG is committed to the principles of the Workforce Race Equality Standard, and action to encourage progress includes: 
• Monitoring and supporting provider organisations, through inclusion in contract of requirement to implement WRES and provide an annual report. 
• Demonstrating leadership within the CCG by: 

o ensuring robust systems for collecting, challenging and analysing workforce data 
o reviewing workforce data at relevant committees 
o establishing a staff survey to address underreporting of ethnicity, allow comparison of staff experiences between white and BME staff, and 

identify areas of concern 
 

We are a member of the Thames Valley Inclusion Network, designed for local NHS bodies to share learning and experiences and support each other to 
address barriers to inclusion at all levels in our workforces. 

 

The CCG has developed an integrated approach to delivering workforce equality so it does not have a separate policy for disabled employees or for any 
other protected characteristics but it has incorporated equalities issues in policies covering all aspects of employee management ranging from recruitment 
to performance discipline. Our aim is to operate in ways which do not discriminate our potential or current employees with any of protected characteristics 
specified in the Equality Act 2010 and to support our employees to maximise their performance including making any reasonable adjustments that may be 
required on a case by case basis. 

 
Gender Distribution 

 

Governing Board Members 3 males and 10 females 

CCG Staff 2 females 
 

The names of Governing Body members, council of practice members and CCG management staff, including very senior managers (VSMs) are given in the 
Members report. 
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HR Policies 
The CCG has a range of HR policies in place that are approved by the Governing Body, in relation to employees and cover social community and human 
rights issues. 

 
 

 

Cathy Winfield, Chief Officer 

30 May 2017 
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Members’ Report 
The Chair of Council changed in January 2017 from Dr Bu Thava to Dr Aparna Balaji. 

 
 

The CCG’s Council of Practices continues to meet on a monthly basis (with the exception of August) and is well attended by GP 
representatives across the CCG, plus observers on request. Attendance is noted via a sign in sheet and apologies duly noted. 
Standing agenda items include declarations of interest, Chair’s update and a feedback session where practices can discuss issues 
they are experiencing, both clinical or business items and how these can be addressed. The feedback includes specific time for GP, 
nurse and practice managers and is new for 2016/17. 

 

There are regular updates to Council on our primary care strategy particularly the impact and opportunity for our emerging 
Alliance and hub model, plus updates on primary care commissioning in light of the full delegation of this responsibility from NHS England. 

 
There is a steady stream of requests from service leads and other clinicians to speak to GPs at Council. The last year has seen a rich and diverse range of 
speakers covering both clinical and non-clinical topics such as: medicines optimisation update, chronic kidney disease update, National Diabetes Prevention 
Programme, reducing variation in primary care and practice audit feedback, Quality Premium target updates, introduction to Wendy Bower, Patient and 
Public Involvement Lay Member, Planned Care Programme Board update, GP Forward View implementation plan, alcohol pathway update, cancer pathway 
update, primary care incidents and clinical concerns process, review of Systems Resilience enhanced service and the Reading Borough Council Children’s 
Centre consultation. 

 
Council continues to be the main forum for updating GPs on the business of the CCG along with the weekly briefing which is circulated to all practice staff. 

 
 
 
 

Dr Aparna Balaji 
 

Chair, NHS South Reading Commissioning Group Council of Member Practices 
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Practice Representative Sex 
Abbey Medical Centre Dr Adunola Oyebata Female 

Chatham Street Surgery Dr Avas  Asghar Male 

Eldon Road Surgery Dr Jose Mathew Male 

Grovelands Medical Centre Dr Ignacia Escamilla Male 

Kennet Surgery Dr Aman Bindra Male 

London Road Surgery Beverly Manton (Practicce Manager 
representation) 

Female 

London Street Surgery Dr Najat Essa Male 

Longbarn Lane Surgery Dr Syed Khader Male 

Melrose Surgery, Dr Dean Dr Aparna Balaji (Chair of Council) Male 

Milman Road Health Centre, Dr Kumar  
Dr Rab Mittal 

 
Male 

Milman Road Health Centre, Dr Mittal 

Pembroke Surgery Dr Gerard d’Cruz Male 

Reading Walk-in Health Centre Dr Mehdi Fard Male 

79 Russell Street Surgery Dr Manohar Swami Male 

South Reading Surgery and Shinfield Medical Practice Dr Neena Grover Female 

Tilehurst Village Surgery Dr Trevor Underwood Male 

University of Reading Medical Practice Dr Emma Cheetham Female 

Westwood Road Practice Dr Caverna Tiwari Female 
 

 
 

The Accountability Report 
Directors Report 
Details of the Membership Body and Governing Body 
The CCG’s member practices and their representatives* are given below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

*The representatives listed 
do not always attend 
meetings or may be 
replaced at a meeting by 
another GP from their 
practice. 
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The Governing Body 
The Governing Body is made up of: 

 Clinical staff elected to the Governing Body by member GP practices
 A Nurse Director and a Hospital Consultant
 Two Lay Members – members of the public
 Executive Officers

Governing Body Members: 
Dr Bu Thava 
Dr Thava is a GP at Milman Road. Prior to this he has been a GP at the Reading Walk-in Health Centre and Pembroke Surgery. 

Bu completed his medical training at the University of London in 2004 and then moved to the Oxford Deanery to complete his 
GP training. As part of this he has worked at the Royal Berkshire Hospital in various posts, including paediatrics, obstetrics and 
emergency medicine. This varied role has provided him with a unique perspective of both primary and secondary care as well 
as the diverse needs of the local population. 

He brings this experience and skill set with him to the South Reading CCG Board, where he is the Urgent Care Lead and 
became Chair in October 2016. 

He is also Primary Care Lead in South Reading and is involved in the IT developments in primary care. 
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Sabrina Chetcuti 
Saby  is  the  Lay  Member  for  Governance  and  Vice  Chair  for  South  Reading  CCG.  A  biochemistry  graduate  with  some 
postgraduate research experience, Saby has spent more than 30 years applying her background within international 
healthcare device and equipment manufacturing organisations and has extensive experience in market strategy and business 
management. 

Saby has worked as an NHS Board member since 2007 both as Non-Executive Director for Berkshire West PCT and recently as 
Lay member for South Reading. Her subcommittee work includes Audit, Remuneration Committee and is the appointed 
partner governor for the South Central Ambulance Service. 

Wendy Bower 
Wendy began her career as a nurse over 30 years ago and has worked in London and Acute hospitals across Berkshire and 
Surrey. She was a senior lecturer for Critical Care Nursing with Thames Valley University mainly teaching registered nurses in 
Intensive Care, Coronary Care and Accident and Emergency in order for them to gain additional qualifications but also had 
some teaching responsibilty for student nurses. 

Wendy has been a non-executive director firstly with Wokingham PCT and latterly with NHS Berkshire serving both East and 
West Berkshire. She has particular interests in Quality and Patient and Public Involvement and sees these taking an ever 
developing and crucial role in the CCG. 
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Dr Helen George 
Dr Helen George has worked as a GP in Reading for over 25 years – as a senior partner and more recently as a salaried GP. She 
is currently a GP at Melrose Surgery. 

For the last two years Helen has been the Berkshire West CCGs’ lead GP for liver disease and Chair of the Liver Disease 
Steering Group. She is particularly interested in improving outcomes for alcohol dependent patients, as well as providing 
education and prevention. She has recently completed an advanced certificate in community alcohol management and is 
keen to be part of making changes that have a direct and positive impact on patients’ health and wellbeing. 

Dr Aparna Balaji 
Dr Aparna Balaji did her M.B.B.S at the Madras Medical College in India, moving to the UK in 2005. She then completed her GP 
training in Somerset in the Severn Deanery in 2011, working there for a year before moving to Reading. 

Aparna is a GP in South Reading, currently working at Melrose Surgery where she is also the safeguarding lead. Prior to that, 
she worked at the Reading Walk-in Centre, where she was the palliative care lead. Aparna has a special interest is in women’s 
health and contraception and is involved in the redesign of the gynaecology pathway. 
She is currently the South Reading CCG lead for urgent care and diabetes. 
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Dr Kajal Patel 
Dr Kajal Patel has worked in Reading since 2010 and is currently a GP at the Reading Walk-In Centre. 
She has worked in both the NHS and private sector and her background includes completing sessions in general practice, 
accident and emergency and out of hours. She has diplomas in obstetrics, gynaecology, family planning and ear nose and 
throat (ENT). 

Kajal is interested in chronic disease management and ways to help patients with multiple conditions to manage their health 
in the community. She is committed to healthcare and realises that its rapid changes, mean clinicians need to be ready to 
adapt to meet the altering needs of local people 

Raju Reddy – Secondary Care Consultant 
Raju has been a full time Consultant Paediatric Anaesthetist at Birmingham Children’s Hospital since 2008. He trained in 
anaesthetics at various hospitals in the West Midlands. He also worked at CS Mott Childrens Hospital, University of Michigan, 
USA for a year in 2007 as a visiting consultant paediatric anesthesiologist. 
Raju holds a recent MBA degree from Warwick Business School and has a keen interest in NHS finance matters; he is 
especially interested in NHS costing. He is a clinical lead for the Cost Recovery Support Team of the UK Department of Health 
and a CQC specialist adviser. He has also been part of a national delivery group for "Future Focused Finance" (FFF) which aims 
to improve the joint working between clinicians and finance professionals. 

Raju also serves as the secondary care lead on the governing body of Gloucestershire CCG. 
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Sam Burrows – Director of Strategy 
Sam Burrows joined the Berkshire West CCGs in May 2016 as the Director of Strategy and oversees the development of new 
models of care for the Berkshire West system. 

After training to be a lawyer, Sam became an alumnus of the NHS Graduate Management Training Scheme. He has worked in 
hospital management and commissioning roles for NHS organisations in London and the South of England, prior to a number 
of years practising as a management consultant with a focus on healthcare improvement. Some of the programmes of work 
which Sam has been involved with include a leadership role within the largest hospital reconfiguration programme attempted 
in the NHS; the transformation of elective waiting times for a major European health economy and the delivery of a £130m 
cost improvement programme for the NHS in London. Sam brings a wealth of knowledge, experience and contacts to the NHS 
in Berkshire West and lives with his family in North Hampshire. 

Debbie Simmons – Nurse Director 
Debbie has over 30 years’ experience working in the NHS. Her career spans across roles in nursing, midwifery and health 
visiting and for many years she has specialised in the field of safeguarding children. 

Debbie has previously worked as Assistant Director for Quality and Clinical Excellence in Hounslow and Richmond Community 
Healthcare NHS Trust. 

Debbie is the Berkshire West CCG Federation Nurse Director, where she is the Executive lead for Quality and safeguarding. 
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Eleanor Mitchell – Operational Director 
Eleanor is the Operations Director for NHS South Reading CCG and has been in post since May 2012. Prior to this role she has 
had commissioning experience working in both the East and West of Berkshire. 
She is also a qualified pharmacist and has over 27 years’ experience working in the NHS in both primary care and the hospital 
sector. 

Her role with South Reading is to manage the day to day operation of the CCG and to support the Chair and other board 
members in discharging their clinical commissioning responsibilities. 

Rebecca Clegg – Acting Chief Financial Officer 
Rebecca Clegg is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. She has worked in the NHS 
for over 20 years in a career that has included working at an acute trust, commissioning and regional level experience. 
She has responsibilities for finance, contracting, estates and corporate governance for the four CCGs in Berkshire West. 
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Dr Cathy Winfield – Chief Officer 
Cathy graduated from Manchester University with a nursing degree and spent most of her nursing career as a district nurse. 
She went on to manage community nursing teams and community hospitals, eventually becoming Director of Nursing in a 
Community Trust. 

When Primary Care Groups (PCGs) were established, Cathy became Chief Executive of a PCG. She also worked part time on a 
PhD during this period, examining clinical decision making in district nursing. With the advent of PCTs in 2002, Cathy moved 
into the commissioning function and became Director of Commissioning in PCTs in North Hampshire and more recently, 
Berkshire West. 

Gabrielle Alford – Director of Joint Commissioning 
Gabrielle trained at University College Hospital London and is a registered general nurse and mental health nurse. She has 30 
years’ experience working in a variety of NHS and local authority organisations. She studied for a Post Graduate Diploma and 
Masters in Health Promotion. 

In the 1990s she worked in senior nursing and management posts in London including community, specialist and mental 
health and older people services. In 2000 she became a Locality Director and then Director of Services in Camden and 
Islington Mental Health and Social Care Trust. In 2004 she relocated to Surrey and moved into PCTs in Associate Director 
Roles in commissioning/strategic planning and partnerships. 

Gabrielle joined Berkshire West CCGs as their Director of Joint Commissioning in April 2013. 

Dr Ishak Nadeem, Chair left the CCG in September 2016 
Christopher Mott, Lay Member left the CCG 
Janet Meek, Chief Financial Officer on secondment to NHS England South from 1 November 2016 
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Attendance at Governing Body Meetings 

 
The table below summarises attendance at Governing Body Meetings throughout the year. 

 

Members Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16  Sep-16 Oct-16 
Joint 

Meeting 

Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 
Joint 

Meeting 

Feb-17 Mar-17 

Gabrielle Alford* A A A A   A A A A A A A 
Dr Aparna Balaji A 

 

 
 

 A   A 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 A 
Sam Burrows  A  A   A  A A  A A 
Sabrina Chetcuti A A A       A   A 
Helen George 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    

 
 

 
 

 
 

 A 
 

 
 

 

Debbie Simmons A             

Janet Meek              

Kajal Patel 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    

 A 
 

 A A 
 

 A 
Eleanor Mitchell              

Dr Ishak Nadeem              

Dr Raju Reddy 
 

 
 

 A 
 

    

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Dr Bubbu Thava              

Cathy Winfield   A        A   

Dr Rosemay Croft 
 

             

Wendy Bower           A A  

Rebecca Clegg         A   A  

 
*non-voting members Key 

 
 Attended 
A Absent 

 Not a member 
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Member May-16 Sept-16 Jan-17 Mar-17 
Sabrina Chetcuti     
David George  C C C C 
Leslie Jones     
Graham Lovelock*     
Geoff Braham*     

 

 
Audit Committee 

 
The CCG’s Constitution allows the formation of a Joint Audit Committee with the other CCGs in Berkshire West. The principal purpose of the Committee is 
to review critically each CCG’s financial reporting and internal control principles, ensuring that all the CCG activities are managed in accordance with the law 
and regulations governing the NHS and to ensure appropriate relationships with both internal and external auditors are maintained. In accordance with its 
terms of reference the Committee has held four meetings in 2016-2017. 

 

The CCG Lay Members for Governance are the members of the Joint Audit Committee and are as follows: 

Sabrina Chetcuti, Lay Member, South Reading CCG 

David George, Lay Member, Wokingham CCG (Chair) 

Leslie Jones, Lay Member, North and West Reading CCG 

Graham Lovelock, Lay Member, Newbury and District CCG* 
 

Geoff Braham, Lay Member, Newbury and District CCG* 
 
 

Attendance at meetings was as follows:  
 

Key 
 

 Attended 
A Absent 
C Chair 

 Not a member 
 

*Graham Lovelock left, Lay Member, Newbury and District CCG left in May 2016 and was replaced by Geoff Braham. 
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Other Committee Membership 
Details of the Remuneration Committee Membership are given in the Remuneration Committee Report. 

 
Details of membership of all other Governing Body and Membership Body Committees are given in the Governance Statement. 

 
Pension Liabilities 
Details of how pension liabilities are treated in the accounts can be found in the notes to the accounts.  Note 1 on Accounting Policies, includes paragraph 
1.9 on Employee Benefits and Note 4.5 includes further information regarding Pension Costs. 

 
External Audit 
The CCG’s External Auditor is KPMG LLP. The cost of the work performed by KPMG LLP in 2016-2017 was £55,620 (including VAT). The work performed 
was in relation to statutory audit and services carried out in relation to the statutory audit. It also includes any statutory activities under the Code of 
Practice e.g. value for money work. 

 
Sickness Absence Data 
Sickness absence data in relation to staff employed by the CCG is included in note 4.3 of the Annual Accounts. 

 
Serious Incidents 
The CCG did not have any serious incidents in 2016-2017. This is as reported in the Governance Statement. 

 
Cost Allocation and Settling of Charges for Information 
The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and the levying of charges for information. 

 
Principles for Remedy 
The CCG is aware of the duty around Principles for Remedy and has adopted the principles representing best practice as part of its complaints procedure. 
There have been no instances where it has been necessary for the CCG to apply these principles. 

 
Employee Consultation 
HR Services and Policy Development are outsourced to South Central and West Commissioning Support Unit under a Service Level Agreement. Policies are 
available to staff via the ConSultHR portal. The CCG has consulted with staff with regard to a number of HR policies. The CCG has also consulted with 
groups of staff regarding organisational and structural change where this has an impact on individuals. 
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Health and Safety 
The Clinical Commissioning Group is fully committed to protecting the health, safety and welfare of its staff and anyone else whose health, safety and 
welfare could be affected by its work and activities. The CCG recognises its statutory responsibilities as described within the Health and Safety at Work Act 
1974 and the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 and aims to do all that it can to ensure staff and others are not exposed to 
unacceptable risk. The CCG’s Statement of Commitment describes the commitment and safety culture within the CCG and all staff must have read the 
statement. 

 

We also recognise that a healthy workforce working within a safe working environment has a positive impact on our abilities to deliver services and achieve 
excellence in our work. As such the CCG will provide the leadership and resources to ensure that individuals and managers have the  guidance, 
understanding and opportunity to maintain welfare, a safe working environment and to work safely. 

 

The CCG has an approved Health and Safety Policy in place and the Accountable Officer is the Executive lead for Health and Safety within the CCG. The 
implementation of our Health and Safety Policy is an individual and management responsibility and accountability is clear at every level. Health and Safety 
Management is part of our everyday approach to our work and its effectiveness will be measured and monitored as a core business activity. 

 

We have identified the following health and safety objectives: 
 

 Identify and manage health and safety risks to meet legislative requirements and achieve best practice standards. 
 Do all that we can to ensure staff and others are not exposed to unacceptable risk. 
 Implement a safety management system that supports individuals and managers to actively manage foreseeable or identified health and safety 

risks. 
 Ensure expectations and standards for Health and Safety are clearly defined and local arrangements are documented. 
 Provide the leadership and resources to ensure that individuals and managers have the guidance, understanding and opportunity to maintain and 

improve welfare, safe working environment and safe working practice. 
 Ensure individual and management responsibility and accountability is clear at every level. 
 Create the conditions in which Health and Safety Management will be part of our everyday approach to our work. 
 Measure and monitor Health and Safety as a core business activity. 
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Fraud 

 
NHS Protect leads on work to identify and tackle crime across the NHS in the UK. Their aim is to protect NHS staff and resources from activities that would 
otherwise undermine their effectiveness and their ability to meet the needs of patients and professionals. Ultimately, this helps to ensure the proper use of 
valuable NHS resources and a safer, more secure environment in which to deliver and receive care. The CCG is committed to reducing the risk from fraud 
and corruption and discharges its counter fraud responsibilities locally through its appointed Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who acts as the “first line 
of defence” against fraud, bribery and corruption, working closely with the CCG and NHS Protect. The Acting Chief Financial Officer is the Executive Lead for 
Counter Fraud and the CCG has a Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy and Response Plan in place. 

 

The CCG locally supports the NHS Protect objectives in tacking fraud effectively in order to: 
• Prevent and deter fraud by removing opportunities for it to occur or re-occur. 
• Educate and inform those who work for, or use, the NHS about fraud in the NHS and how to tackle it. 
• Hold to account those who have committed fraud against the NHS by detecting and prosecuting offenders and seeking redress where viable. 

The LCFS presents regularly to the Audit Committee that monitors progress against an approved work and resource plan. 

The Counter Fraud work has been divided into 4 main areas:- 
i) STRATEGIC GOVERNANCE 

In compliance with Standard 1.8 of the Standards for Commissioners for Fraud Bribery and Corruption and Service Condition 24 of the NHS 
Standard Contract all NHS Providers with a contract value above £200k with the CCG have completed the Organisation Crime Profile as required 
and have Counter Fraud Provisions in place. 

ii) INFORM AND INVOLVE The Creation of an Anti-fraud culture – via a staff survey and through the publication and distribution of a counter fraud 
newsletter and bespoke leaflets (both hard copy and electronic 

iii) PREVENT, DETER, and DETECT – Maximum Deterrence of fraud, through the use of Fraud Alerts circulated to staff particularly in relation to 
prescribing fraud, AQP and Continuing Healthcare Claims 

iv) HOLD TO ACCOUNT Professional investigation of fraud, - through investigations as appropriate. There are no current live investigations. 

The CCG remains compliant with the NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners 

The CCG also participates in the National Fraud Initiative Exercise now run by the Cabinet Office which is a mandatory data matching exercise that examines 
potential data duplicates particularly in relation to trade creditors and payroll. It has been run every two years since 1996 and, to date, has been used to 
identify fraud and overpayments totalling £1.17 billion nationally. The CCG is currently working through the data matches from the latest exercise. 
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Better Payment Practice Code 
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to pay all valid invoices by the date due or within 30 days of the receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is 
later. Details of the CCG’s performance against the requirements of the code can be found in note 6.1 of the Annual Report. 

 

The CCG has not signed up to the Prompt Payment Code. 
 

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response 
We certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has a Major Incident Plan and incident response plan in place. These are fully compliant with the NHS 
England Emergency Preparedness Framework 2015 and NHS England Core Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response 2014. The 
Clinical Commissioning Group annually reviews and updates the plans and as a result of lessons learnt from exercises and live incidents amends plans 
accordingly. Reports are provided to the Governing Body as required. 

 

The CCG’s Business Continuity Plan is to be reviewed during 2017/18 and taken to the CCG management for approval and recommended to the CCG’s 
Governing Body. 

 

Gabrielle Alford, CCG Executive Lead for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response 
 

 
 

Statement as to Disclosure to Auditors 
The directors of the CCG know of no information, which would be relevant to the auditors for the purposes of their audit reports, and of which the auditors 
are not aware, and; have taken “all the steps that he or she ought to have taken” to make themselves aware of any such information and to establish that 
the auditors are aware of it. 

 

 
 

Cathy Winfield Chief Officer 

30 May 2017 
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Remuneration Report 

 
Remuneration Committee Report 
The CCGs in Berkshire West have a Joint Remuneration Committee and the membership for 2016-2017 was as follows: 

Newbury and District CCG – Geoff Braham 
North and West Reading CCG - Les Jones 
South Reading CCG - Saby Chetcuti 
Wokingham CCG - David George 

 
Statement of the policy on the remuneration of senior managers for current and future financial years 
The CCGs working collaboratively within Berkshire West have formed a Joint Remuneration Working Group to ensure consistency and standardisation, as 
the four CCGs share a Chief Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other executive posts. The Working Group advises each CCG’s Remuneration Committee, 
which makes recommendations to each CCG’s Governing Body. 

 

Remuneration is designed to fairly reward based on each individual’s contribution to the organisation’s success taking into account the need to recruit, 
retain and motivate skilled and experienced professionals. This is not withstanding the need to be mindful of paying more than is necessary in order to 
ensure value for money in the use of public resources and the CCG’s running cost allowance. 

 

Senior managers’ remuneration is set through a process that is based on a consistent framework and independent decision-making based on accurate 
assessments of the weight of roles and individuals’ performance in them. This ensures a fair and transparent process via bodies that are independent of the 
senior managers whose pay is being set. No individual is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration 

 

Executive senior managers are on permanent NHS contracts. The length of contract, notice period and compensation for early termination are set out in the 
Agenda for Change, NHS terms and conditions of service handbook. 

 
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 

 
There are 3 Very Senior Managers (VSMs) who have individual notice periods. Between 1 November 2016 and 30 April 2017, the CCGs’ substantive Chief 
Finance Officer was on secondment to another organisation and the role was covered by a member of staff on the Agenda for Change pay scale rather than 
the VSM pay scale. 

 
All VSM remuneration is determined by the Remuneration Committee based on available national guidance, benchmarking data against other CCGs and 
with due regard for national pay negotiations/awards for NHS staff on national terms and conditions.  The Remuneration Committee is also cognisant of 
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public sector pay restraint and its responsibility to ensure that Executive pay remains publicly justifiable.  The Remuneration Committee acknowledges and 
commits to the requirement to seek pre-approval for salaries in excess of £142,500. 

 

Senior Managers have not received any remuneration linked to performance. 
 

The CCG does not hold a provision for compensation for early retirement.   Any non-contractual payments made outside of the Agenda for Change 
framework would be subject to treasury approval. 

 

Compensation on Early Retirement of for Loss of Office 
No senior manager received payment for compensation on early retirement or loss of office during the financial year (nil in 2015-2016). 

 

Payments to Past Senior Managers 
No payments were made to any individual who was not a senior manager during the financial year but had previously been a senior manager at any time 
(nil in 2015-2016). 
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South 

 

Expense 
payments 

  
 

Long Term 

 
 

All 

 

Reading (taxable) Performance performance Pension 
Federation CCG (Rounded Pay and pay and related 

Salary Salary to the bonuses bonuses benefits Total 
(Bands of (Bands of nearest (Bands of (Bands of (bands of (Bands of 
£5,000) £5,000) £100) £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) 

£000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 

 
Salaries and Allowances 2016-2017 (subject to audit) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Name Title 
  Cathy Winfield Chief Officer* 130-135 25-30 0 0-5 0-5 77.5-80 210-215   
  Janet Meek** Chief Finance Officer* 65-70 10-15 0 0-5 0-5 85-87.5 150-155   
  Rebecca Clegg** Acting Chief Finance Officer* 40-45 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 82.5-85 125-130   
  Debbie Simmons Nurse Director* 90-95 15-20 0 0-5 0-5 42.5-45 135-140   
  Gabrielle Alford Director of Joint Commissioning* 85-90 15-20 0 0-5 0-5 20-22.5 110-115   
  Raju Reddy Secondary Care Consultant* 35-40 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 35-40   
  Fiona Slevin-Brown** Director of Strategy* 0-5 0-5 0 0-5 0-5 67.5-70 70-75   
  Sam Burrows** Director of Strategy* 75-80 15-20 0 0-5 0-5 17.5-20 95-100   
  Dr Abid Irfan Federation Chair* 40-45 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 40-45   
  Eleanor Mitchell Director of Operations 80-85 0 0-5 0-5 17.5-20 100-105   
  Dr Ishak Nadeem** GP Clinical Chair 55-60 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 55-60   
  Dr Bubbu Thava GP Clinical Chair 60-65 0 0-5 0-5 17.5-20 80-85   
  Dr Aparna Balaji GP Clinical Lead 35-40 0 0-5 0-5 0 35-40   
  Helen George GP Clinical Lead 35-40 0 0-5 0-5 280-282.5 315-320   
  Kajal Patel GP Clinical Lead 50-55 0 0-5 0-5 245-247.5 295-300   
  Sabrina Chetcuti Lay member 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 5-10   
   Wendy Bower Lay member 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 5-10   

*These roles are shared across the four CCGs in West Berkshire. Therefore the report shows the CCG’s share of the relevant components of remuneration. The share that has been used is the 
fair share based on the CCG’s allocations relative to the other CCGs in West Berkshire. In addition, the senior managers’ total salary for all 4 CCGs has been included. **Janet Meek is on 
secondment to NHS England South. Rebecca Clegg Acting Chief Finance Officer from 1 November 2016 ongoing. Sam Burrows, Director of Strategy from 9 May 2016 ongoing. Fiona Slevin- 
Brown was Director of Nursing from 1 April 2016 to 10 April 2016. Dr Ishak Nadeen was Chair from 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2016. Dr Bubbu Thava, Chair from 1 December 2016 ongoing. 
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Salaries and Allowances (2015-2016) (subject to audit)  
   Expense  Long Term   
  

Federation 
South 

Reading 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performance 
related pay 

performance 
related pay 

All pension 
related 

 

 salary CCG Salary (rounded to and bonuses and bonuses benefits Total 
 (Bands of (Bands of the nearest (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of 
 £5,000) £5,000) £100) £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) 

Name Title £000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
  Cathy Winfield Chief Officer* 125-130 30-35 0 0-5 0-5 5-7.5 130-135   
  Janet Meek Chief Finance Officer* 110-115 25-30 0 0-5 0-5 7.5-10 120-125   
  Debbie Simmons Nurse Director* 95-100 20-25 0 0-5 0-5 7.5-10 105-110   
  Gabrielle Alford***** Director of Joint Commissioning* 80-85 20-25 0 0-5 0-5 50-52.5 140-145   
  Derek Fawcett** Secondary Care Consultant* 20-25 0-5 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 20-25   
  Raju Reddy** Secondary Care Consultant* 10-15 0-5 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 10-15   
  Fiona Slevin-Brown Director of Operations 90-95 20-25 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 90-95   
  Dr Abid Irfan Federation Chair* 40-45 10-15 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 40-45   
  Eleanor Mitchell Operations Director 80-85 0 0-5 0-5 2.5-5 85-90   
  Sabrina Chetcuti Lay Member 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 5-10   
  Christopher Mott Lay Member 5-10 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 5-10   
  Dr Ishak Nadeem GP Board Member (Chair) 105-110 0 0-5 0-5 162.5-165 265-270   
  Dr Bubbu Thava**** GP Board Member 35-40 0 0-5 0-5 7.5-10 45-50   
  Dr Rosemary Croft**** GP Board Member 90-95 0 0-5 0-5 257.5-260 350-355   
  Dr Aparna Balaji GP Board Member 10-15 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 10-15   
   Dr Najat Essa*** GP Board Member 15-20 0 0-5 0-5 0-2.5 35-40   
*These roles are shared across the four CCGs in West Berkshire. Therefore the report shows the CCG’s share of the relevant components of remuneration. The share that has been used is the 
fair share based on the CCG’s allocations relative to the other CCGs in West Berkshire. In addition, the senior managers’ total salary for all 4 CCGs has been included. 
**Derek Fawcett was Secondary Care Consultant from 1 April 2015 to 30 November 2015. Raju Reddy was Secondary Care Consultant from 1 December 2015 ongoing. 
***Dr Najat Essa left the CCG in October 2015. 
****The CETVs for Dr Croft and Dr Nadeem are not available for the CCG and therefore the full CETV is shown in the real increase in CETV column. 
*****Gabrielle Alford received a back data pay award in year which is reflected in the salary bank and which results in an increased pension benefit in year. 
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Total 

 

Lump sum 
at pension 

 Real accrued age 
Real increase pension at related to 

increase in pension pension accrued 
in pension 
at pension 

lump sum 
at pension 

age at 31 
March 

pension at 
31 March 

age age 2017 2017 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Name Title £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 

 
Pension Benefits 2016-2017 (subject to audit) 

 
 
 
 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2016 

Real 
increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 

31 March 
2017 

 
Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 
 
 
 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
  Cathy Winfield Chief Officer* 2.5-5 12.5-15 45-50 140-145 829 109 938 0   
  Janet Meek** Chief Finance Officer* 0-2.5 5-7.5 30-35 95-100 563 61 668 0   
  Rebecca Clegg** Acting Chief Finance Officer* 0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 65-70 364 19 411 0   
  Debbie Simmons Nurse Director* 0-2.5 5-7.5 20-25 65-70 384 58 442 0   
  Gabrielle Alford Director of Joint Commissioning* 0-2.5 2.5-5 25-30 85-90 544 46 590 0   
  Raju Reddy Secondary Care Consultant* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   
  Fiona Slevin-Brown** Director of Strategy* 0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 85-90 461 1 516 0   
  Sam Burrows** Director of Strategy* 0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 0-5 0 8 9 0   
  Eleanor Mitchell Director of Operations 0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 70-75 454 39 493 0   
  Dr Bubbu Thava Chair 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-12.5 30-35 121 23 144 0   
  Helen George GP Clinical Lead 10-12.5 35-37.5 10-12.5 35-40 0 247 247 0   
  Kajal Patel GP Clinical Lead 10-12.5 30-32.5 10-12.5 30-35 0 137 138 0   
   Dr Ishak Nadeem** Chair 0-2.5 0-2.5 7.5-10 20-25 173 10 193 0   

*These roles are shared between the 4 CCGs in West Berkshire. The amounts shown above represent the gross amounts rather than an apportioned share. 
**Dr Ishak Nadeem was Chair from 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2016. Janet Meek is on secondment to NHS England South. Rebecca Clegg Acting Chief Finance Officer from 1 November 
2016 ongoing. Sam Burrows, Director of Strategy from 9 May 2016 ongoing. Fiona Slevin-Brown was Director of Nursing from 1 April 2016 to 10 April 2016. 
There are no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members as they do not receive pensionable remuneration 
Where individuals are not members of the NHS Pension Scheme in respect of their role with the CCG, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for those individuals 
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Pension Benefits (2015-2016) (subject to audit) 

 
  

 
Real 

increase in 

 
 
 
 

Real increase 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 

 
Lump sum at 
pension age 
related to 

 
Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

 
Real 

increase in 
Cash 

 
Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

 
 

Employer's 
contribution 

pension at in pension age at 31 accrued Value at Equivalent Value at to 
pension lump sum at March pension at 31 1 April Transfer 31 March stakeholder 

age pension age 2016 March 2016 2015 Value 2016 pension 
(Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of     
£2,500) £2,500) £5,000) £5,000)     

Name Title £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cathy Winfield Chief Officer* 0-2.5 2.5-5 40-45 130-135 790 29 829 0 

Janet Meek Chief Finance Officer* 0-2.5 2.5-5 25-30 80-85 529 28 563 0 

Debbie Simmons Nurse Director* 0-2.5 2.5-5 20-25 60-65 358 22 384 0 

Gabrielle Alford Director of Joint Commissioning* 2.5-5 7.5-10 25-30 80-85 480 59 544 0 

Fiona Slevin-Brown Director of Strategy* 0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 80-85 442 13 461 0 

Derek Fawcett** Secondary Care Consultant* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Raju Reddy** Secondary Care Consultant* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Eleanor Mitchell Director of Operations 0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 70-75 432 17 454 0 

Dr Rosemary Croft*** Clinical Lead 10-12.5 35-37.5 10-15 35-40 0 264 264 0 

Dr Ishak Nadeem*** Clinical Lead 7.5-10 22.5-25 5-10 20-25 0 173 173 0 

Dr Bubbu Thava Clinical Lead 10-12.5 30-32.5 10-15 30-35 112 8 121 0 
*These roles are shared between the 4 CCGs in West Berkshire. The amounts shown above represent the gross amounts rather than an apportioned share. 
**Derek Fawcett was Secondary Care Consultant from 1 April 2015 to 30 November 2015. Raju Reddy was Secondary Care Consultant from 1 December 2015 ongoing. 
***The CETVs for Dr Croft and Dr Nadeem are not available for the CCG and therefore the full CETV is shown in the real increase in CETV column. 
There are no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members as they do not receive pensionable remuneration. 
Where individuals are not members of the NHS Pension Scheme in respect of their role with the CCG, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for those individuals 
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 

 

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point 
in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or any other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from 
the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008. 

 

On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) 
discount rate from 3.0% to 2.8%. This rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report. Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and 
prepare annual reports, the CETV figures quoted in this report for members of the NHS Pension scheme are based on the previous discount rate and have 
not been recalculated. 

 

Real Increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions 
paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for 
the start and end of the period. 

 
Pay Multiples (subject to audit) 

 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce 

 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in the CCG in the financial year 2015-2016 was £210k to £215k (2015-16 was £210k to 
£215k). This was 2.4 times (2015-2016 2.1 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £89,889 (2015-2016 £98,980). 

 
In 2016-2017, no employee (2015-16, no employee) received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director/member of the CCG Governing Body. 
Remuneration ranged from £23,000 to £211,000 (2015-2016 £44,000 to £211,000). The change between years was due to a vacancy being held at the end 
of 2015-16. 

 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments. It does not 
include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
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Total 
£'000 

 Permanent 
Employees 

£'000 

 
Other 
£'000 

   
Total 
£'000 

 Permanent 
Employees 

£'000 

 
Other 
£'000 

   
Total 
£'000 

 Permanent 
Employees 

£'000 

 
Other 
£'000 

 

Employee Benefits 
Salaries and wages 

  
164 

 
163 

  
0 

   
163 

 
163 

  
0 

   
0 

 
0 

  
0 

Social security costs  18 18  0   18 18  0   0 0  0 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme  23 23  0   23 23  0   0 0  0 
Other pension costs  0 0  0   0 0  0   0 0  0 
Other post-employment benefits  0 0  0   0 0  0   0 0  0 
Other employment benefits  0 0  0   0 0  0   0 0  0 
Termination benefits  0 0  0   0 0  0   0 0  0 
Gross employee benefits expenditure  206 205  0   205 205  0   0 0  0 
 
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 

  
0 

 
0 

  
0 

   
0 

 
0 

  
0 

   
0 

 
0 

  
0 

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs  206 205  0   205 205  0   0 0  0 
 
Less: Employee costs capitalised 

  
0 

 
0 

  
0 

   
0 

 
0 

  
0 

   
0 

 
0 

  
0 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs  206 205  0   205 205  0   0 0  0 

 

 
Staff Report 
Employee benefits relate to staff employed by the CCG including staff working on continuing healthcare (CHC) assessment and administration. The majority 
of staff work for all 4 CCGs in Berkshire West and their costs are recharged on a gross basis. Until 31 March 2016, the CHC staff were employed by Windsor, 
Ascot and Maidenhead CCG and recharges were accounted for on a net basis. 

 
Employee Benefits 2016-17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Average number of people employed 2016-17 
The CCG had 4 permanent staff employed during the year. 

 
 

Total Admin Programme 
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Employee Benefits 2015-16 

 
 

Total Admin Programme 
 

  
Total 
£'000 

 Permanent 
Employees 

£'000 

 
Other 
£'000 

   
Total 
£'000 

 Permanent 
Employees 

£'000 

 
Other 
£'000 

   
Total 
£'000 

 Permanent 
Employees 

£'000 

 
Other 
£'000 

 

Employee Benefits 
Salaries and wages 

  
397 

 
276 

  
122 

   
150 

 
150 

  
0 

   
247 

 
125 

  
122 

Social security costs  24 24  0   14 14  0   10 10  0 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme  40 40  0   21 21  0   19 19  0 
Other pension costs  0 0  0   0 0  0   0 0  0 
Other post-employment benefits  0 0  0   0 0  0   0 0  0 
Other employment benefits  0 0  0   0 0  0   0 0  0 
Termination benefits  0 0  0   0 0  0   0 0  0 
Gross employee benefits expenditure  461 340  122   186 186  0   275 154  122 
 
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 

  
0 

 
0 

  
0 

   
0 

 
0 

  
0 

   
0 

 
0 

  
0 

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs  461 340  122   186 186  0   275 154  122 
 
Less: Employee costs capitalised 

  
0 

 
0 

  
0 

   
0 

 
0 

  
0 

   
0 

 
0 

  
0 

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs  461 340  122   186 186  0   275 154  122 
 

Employee benefits relates to staff directly employed by the CCG and to staff who work on continuing health care administration 
and assessment. These CHC staff are employed by Windsor, Ascot and Maidenhead CCG, but recharged to the CCG on a net 
accounting basis. 

 
Average number of people employed 2015-16 
The CCG had 4 permanent staff employed in 2015-16. 
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Off-payroll Engagements 
Under Treasury Guidance PES (2013) 09 the CCG is required to disclose all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and 
that last longer than six months. The CCG did not have any off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017. 

 
Declared interests and conflicts at 31 March 2017 

 

Name Position Declaration Nature of Interest 

Dr Bu Thava Governing Body GP Member 1.   GP at Milman Road Surgery Personal 
Saby Chetcuti Lay Member Governance 1.   Appointed Governor of South Central 

Ambulance Service (CCGs North) 
Personal 

Dr Raju Reddy Secondary Care Consultant 1. Secondary Care Consultant on the Governing 
Body of Gloucester CCG 

2. Consultant Anaesthetist, Birmingham 
Children’s Hospital 

3. Wife is a Salaried GP in Birmingham, Modality 
Group 

Family 

Helen George Governing Body GP Member 1.  Lead GP in Melrose Surgery for End of Life, no 
pecuniary interests 

Personal 

Kajal Patel Governing Body GP Member 1.   GP Reading Walk in Centre Personal 
Dr Aparna Balaji Governing Body GP Member 1. GP at Melrose Surgery and Reading Walk-in 

Centre 
2. Husband Consultant Paediatrician at Royal 

Berkshire Hospital 

 

 
Personal 

Rebecca Clegg from 1 
 

November 2016 

Acting Chief Finance Officer 1. Director of Bluequelle Ltd Partners IT 
Consultancy Business 

2. Partner works for OLM Group 

Personal 
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Name Position Declaration Nature of Interest 

Wendy Bower Lay Member for PPE 1. Director of Moneymaximiser Ltd 
2. Governor for CCG Federation at RBFT 
3. Lay member PPI South Reading (May 2010) 
4. Brother is Clinical Trials Specialist with 

Quintiles 
5. Daughter works at Royal Berkshire NHS 

Foundation Trust 

Personal 
 
 

Family 

Family 

Sam Burrows Director of Strategy 1.   Wife, Rosanne Burrows (nee Ransome) Head 
of People & OD for NHS England South 

Family 

Dr Rosemary Croft 
left 8 April 2016 

Governing Body GP Member 1. Salaried GP at Milman Road Health Centre 
(practice is a member of Assura Reading LLP) 

2. Chair of Bangladesh Partnership 
3. Chair of LAMB Healthcare Foundation 

(development project in Bangladesh) 

Personal 
 

Personal 

Personal 

Dr Ishak Nadeem 
left December 2016 

CCG Chair and Governing Body GP 
Member 

1. GP at South Reading and Shinfield Practice 
2. Independent Occupational Health Physician – 

Director of Invicom Ltd (company providing 
occupational health services) 

Personal 
 

Personal 

Janet Meek to 31 
October 2016 

Chief Finance Officer 1.   Husband is Business Director at NHS 
Improvement 

Family 

 

 
 

 
 

Cathy Winfield, Chief Officer, 30 May 2017 
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall 
be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 

 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the 

Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for: 
 

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, 
 

• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 

Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction), 

• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 

other irregularities). 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money, 
 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 

2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National 

Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 

financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows 

for the financial year. 
 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the 

Department of Health and in particular to: 
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• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 

accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
 

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been 

followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and, 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), 

Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 

I also confirm that: 
 
 

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have 

taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors 

are aware of that information. 

 
• that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual 

report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable 

 
 
 

 
 

Cathy Winfield 
 

Chief Officer 30 May 2017 
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2016-2017 Governance Statement 
 

Introduction and context 
 

NHS South Reading CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is 
arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the 
provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population. 

 
As at 1 April 2017, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006. 

 
The CCG is a group of 19 GP Practices in the South Reading area of Berkshire, and is responsible for commissioning (buying) hospital and community 
healthcare services and a number of primary care services to meet the needs of its local population. The CCG has responsibility for around 133,000 patients 
and in 2016/17 had a budget of £156.3m. 

 
Scope of responsibility 

 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning 
group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently 
and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance statement. 

 
Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

 

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 

 
The CCG Constitution sets out how the organisation will work with and on behalf of the local clinical community to enhance the health and wellbeing of its 
local population, and how it will fulfil its statutory duties. As stated in the Constitution, the Members have agreed to work together as the CCG, and to work 
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in federation with other clinical commissioning groups in Berkshire West, in accordance with the terms of the Federation Agreement (Memorandum of 
Understanding). 
Standing Orders regulate the proceedings of the CCG, as set out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (“HSCA”). The Standing Orders, together with the 
CCG’s scheme of delegation and the CCG’s prime financial policies, provide the procedural framework within which the CCG discharges its business. 

 
The Membership Body 
Matters Reserved to the Membership Body (the Council of Members) are clearly defined in Part I Section 22 of the CCG Constitution, and in Part IV of the 
Constitution (the Scheme of Delegation of Authority). The responsibilities of the Membership Body include among others: actively participating in and 
contributing to the productive, effective and efficient operation of the CCG; and assisting in the analysis, development and implementation of patient 
pathways within the local health economy with a view to improving services in a cost-effective manner. 

 
In accordance with its responsibilities the Membership Body met monthly during 2016/17 (with the exception of August), with formal meetings chaired by 
the Chair of Council, a Governing body member. GP attendance at meetings has been high; other participants have included: Practice Managers (on an ad 
hoc basis), the CCG’s Operations Director and Commissioning  Manager, with attendance by CCG senior management, local authority/public health 
representatives, and by NHS service providers where relevant. 

 
Attendance, apologies for absence, and declarations of interests and/or conflicts of interests are formally recorded in the minutes of meetings. Standing 
agenda items cover commissioning, clinical updates, finance and performance; other regular items include reports from the CCG chair and those from 
governing body clinical leads; governance - including review and agreement of proposed constitutional amendments, primary care strategy update, practice 
issues, and clinical concerns process and feedback - to enable Members to share concerns and consider how these might be addressed. 

 
2016/17 agenda items also included: medicines optimisation update, chronic kidney disease update, National Diabetes Prevention Programme, reducing 
variation in primary care and practice audit feedback, Quality Premium, introduction to the Patient Engagement Lay member, Planned Care Programme 
Board update, Home First Hub, individual finding requests update, community nursing update, MSK update, diagnostics update, GP Forward  View 
implementation plan, alcohol pathway update, cancer pathway update, primary care incidents and clinical concerns process, review of Systems Resilience 
CES, Children’s Centre consultation. 

 
Following each meeting, the Chair of Council provides a summary report on Membership Body activities, agenda item discussions and decisions taken, to 
the next meeting of the Governing Body. 
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The Governing Body 
The CCG has established a governing body (the “Governing Body”) which shall “fulfil its statutory responsibilities under the HSCA and such other functions 
as are delegated to it by the CCG which shall include the powers and authority to lead the CCG and to set its strategic direction in line with the views set by 
the members of the Governing Body.” 

 
The purpose of the CCG governing body is to lead clinically the commissioning of healthcare and related services for the people in the local area. Paragraphs 
26-29 of Part I of the CCG Constitution detail the responsibilities of the governing body. The CCG governing body comprises GPs from across the local area, a 
secondary care consultant, a lay member for governance and a lay member for patient and public involvement, and the CCG’s senior management team. 

 
In accordance with its responsibilities, the CCG governing body has met four times in public in 2016/17, with other meetings (not held in public) in other 
months. The meetings held in public are widely publicised on the CCG website, through the local press and social media. Members of the public and of local 
patient interest groups are invited to attend. Meetings are where possible held at the Museum of English Rural Life to enable attendance by local residents. 
Questions on specific agenda items can be put to the CCG in advance of the meeting to enable the relevant governing body member to provide an informed 
response; and time is allocated for such questions on the agenda of the meetings held in public. Members’ attendance, apologies for absence, and 
declarations of interests and/or conflicts of interests are formally recorded in the minutes of the meetings. 

 
Throughout the year the governing body received regular reports from the CCG Chair; the lay member for patient and public engagement (PPE); and from 
the GP Lead for the Health and Wellbeing Board. It has also received regular reports from the CCG Chief Officer and other members of the executive team, 
including financial reports; quality and performance data; risk and governance; summary and annual reports from the chairs of the CCG’s delegated 
committees; programme board annual reports. These, together with a wide range of other updates, enable the Governing Body to assess performance 
against their objectives and direct further action where necessary. 

 
 

Delegated Committees and coverage of their work (terms of reference) 
In accordance with the CCG Constitution, the CCG, operating through the Berkshire West Federation, established the following delegated committees which 
are ‘joint committees’ of the governing bodies of the four Berkshire West CCGs (that is: Newbury and District, North and West Reading, South Reading, and 
Wokingham CCGs) 

• Audit Committee 
• Remuneration Committee 
• Commissioning Committee 
• QIPP and Finance Committee 
• Quality Committee 
• Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
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• (Individual Funding) Case Review Committee and Joint Appeals Panel 

 
The terms of reference of each of these committees are reviewed and approved annually by the governing body and are made available through the 
publication of the CCG Constitution and of governing body meeting papers on the CCG website. Following each meeting (except the Case Review 
Committee) the committee chair provides a summary written report to the next governing body meeting in order to provide assurance that the committee 
is effectively discharging its responsibilities. The Audit, QIPP and Finance and Quality Committees undertake a self-assessment exercise on their 
effectiveness as part of their annual report. Attendances, apologies for absence and declarations and/or conflicts of interest are formally recorded in the 
minutes of meetings. 

 
Audit Committee: reviews critically the CCG’s financial reporting and internal control principles, ensuring that all the CCG activities are managed in 
accordance with legislation and regulations governing the NHS, and to ensure that appropriate relationships with both internal and external auditors are 
maintained. 

 
The Committee met five times in 2016-17, complying with the minimum requirements as set out in its terms of reference. Membership comprises the lay 
member with responsibility for governance of each of the four CCGs in Berkshire West (one of whom chairs the meeting). Meetings are attended by the 
CCG Chief Finance Officer (or designated deputy). The clinical chairs of the four CCGs are invited to attend the meeting to review the annual accounts. The 
Chief Officer and other members of the CCG executive team and of Central Southern Commissioning Support Unit (CSCSU) attend meetings as requested. 
Representatives of internal audit and external audit attend each meeting, and also meet in private session with the Lay Members as required. The agenda 
of the Audit Committee is governed by its annual business cycle which is reviewed and agreed at each committee meeting. 

 

Remuneration Committee: reviews the framework for the Remuneration, Allowances and Terms of Service for employees of the CCGs and for people who 
provide services to the CCGs. It makes recommendations to ensure effective oversight of the performance of the CCG’s Chair, Chief Officer, Chief Finance 
Officer and other senior posts, and for scrutiny of redundancy payments. 

 

The Committee comprises of one lay member from each of the four CCG Governing Bodies. The Chief Finance Officer attends each meeting of the 
committee. The committee met four times in 2016/17. 

 

Commissioning Committee: makes recommendations to the CCG to enable it to maximise its ability to fulfil its statutory duties, working in close 
collaboration with the other three CCGs in Berkshire West. The committee also makes recommendations to the CCG on joint commissioning where a pan- 
CCG approach would be beneficial, and implements and pursues the joint commissioning strategy agreed by the four CCGs. 

 

Committee membership comprises: the chair of each of the four CCGs, the CCG’s executive team, the secondary care consultant and a lay member with 
responsibility for public and patient engagement. The committee meets every two weeks where possible - and at least monthly; and in accordance with the 
CCG Constitution is chaired by the CCGs’ ‘federation’ chair. 
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QIPP & Finance Committee: monitors contract performance, the QIPP programme, and overall use of resources; monitors financial performance in relation 
to key national targets and the NHS Outcomes Framework; approves QIPP business cases and release of funding from allocated reserves; and monitors and 
provides a scrutiny function to ensure the delivery of projects within the CCG’s care programme boards. Its duties include the review of detailed monthly 
monitoring reports and year-end forecasts of performance against financial performance targets, including contract positions and QIPP plans, for each of 
the CCGs in Berkshire West; and informing the CCG’s Governing Body of action plans to mitigate high-risk areas and underperformance or over 
performance as appropriate. 

 

Membership includes: the CCG lay member with responsibility for governance (deputy chair); GP member of the governing body (one from each of the 
CCGs); Chief Finance Officer (chair), supported by: CCG managers with responsibility for performance of QIPP (which may be the CCG operations director, 
and programme leads for each of the programmes), Head of Performance, Deputy Chief Finance Officer, Director of Joint Commissioning, and Central 
Southern CSU staff responsible for performance and information. Other members are co-opted as necessary, e.g. public health consultant (Local Authority). 
The Committee has met monthly in 2016/17, in accordance with its Terms of Reference. 

 

Quality Committee: provides performance management and assurance, and makes recommendations to the CCG Governing Body on the quality and safety 
of commissioned services. 

 

Its duties cover: ensuring appropriate mechanisms are in place to monitor and drive forward the quality and safety of services commissioned by the CCG, 
and recommending courses of action where concerns have been identified; receiving and discussing reports on the quality of commissioned services (acute, 
mental health, community, independent, and any willing/qualified provider and Primary Care), provider performance against CQUINs, patient experience 
(including complaints and compliments received by commissioners), and clinical performance indicators; ensuring that the patient voice is captured, and 
that changes to CCG commissioning strategy are recommended to improve patient experience; reviewing and scrutinising reports on serious incidents (SIs) 
and Never Events in commissioned services, and monitoring associated action plans; ensuring that there are robust systems and processes in place to 
safeguard adults and children; considering national quality reports and results from relevant national audits, CQC (Care Quality Commission) inspections 
and those of NHSI; the monitoring of arrangements in place within the CCG relating to  equality and diversity, ensuring compliance with statutory 
obligations and implementation of equality action plans. 

 

In accordance with its term of reference, the Committee met six times in 2016/17. Membership includes: the lay member with responsibility for patient 
experience from each of the four CCGs (one of whom chairs the meeting); a clinical member from each governing body of the four CCGs; Secondary Care 
Consultant; Nurse Director; patient/public representative; supported by CCG managers with responsibility for governance and safeguarding, and CCG 
Quality Team CSU staff with responsibility for quality improvement. 

 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee (formerly the Joint Primary Care Co-Commissioning Committee): carries out the functions relating to the 
commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act and the associated Delegation Agreement with NHS England, except those that 
are reserved to NHS England, the most significant of which is individual GP performance management. It must also develop and deliver a strategic 
programme to use co-commissioning arrangements to implement the Berkshire West Primary Care Strategy, which in turn reflects the direction of travel set 
out within the BOB STP plan and the CCG’s Operating Plan, including the local implementation plan for the General Practice Forward View. 

Page | 71  



 
Meetings are held quarterly and in public, with an Operational Group meeting in the intervening months. The voting membership of the Committee 
comprises two lay members (one of which is chair), four Governing Body GP Leads (one from each of the CCGs), the Chief Officer, the Nurse Director and 
the Chief Finance Officer. Non-voting membership comprises: the Federation Chair, the Director of Strategy, the Operations Directors of the four CCGs, the 
Director of Primary Care, CCG Practice Manager Representatives, the Primary Care Commissioning Managers, a Local Medical Committee representative, 
Healthwatch representatives, a Local Pharmaceutical Committee representative and three Health and Wellbeing Board representatives. There is also an 
NHS England representative in attendance in accordance with the Delegation Agreement. 

 

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is directly accountable to the four CCG Governing Bodies, and additionally to the QIPP & Finance Committee 
for financial investment matters. The committee chair provides, after each meeting, a summary written report to each of the Governing Bodies, to provide 
assurance that the committee is effectively discharging its responsibilities, and a similar report to the QIPP and Finance Committee in respect of financial 
matters. Where required, a summary report is also provided to the QIPP and Finance Committee following Operational Group meetings. 

 

(Individual Funding) Case Review Committee: considers individual funding requests (IFR) put to it; considers whether the CCGs’ full requirements for 
statement of clinical exceptionality, as defined in the IFR policy, have been demonstrated within the case submitted for consideration of funding; carries out 
its decision making about the IFR in line with the CCG Ethical Framework; and ensures it is consistent in its decision making. 

 

Meetings are held monthly or more frequently when caseload demands and/or at the discretion of the CCGs. Membership of the committee comprises two 
nominated lay members from the CCGs, one of whom chairs the meetings; a consultant in public health (healthcare priorities), two GP representatives 
nominated by the CCGs’ governing bodies, a CCG operations director, and a member of the CCG Medicines Optimisation Team. Committee members 
undertake regular training to ensure that they maintain their knowledge of key requirements, policies and information related to IFR. Because of the 
sensitive and potentially identifiable nature of the cases reviewed by the CRC, the outcome of the committee’s decisions is communicated only referring 
clinicians and to patients. If patients/family representatives are not satisfied with the outcome, they have the opportunity to request a review by the IFR 
Appeals Panel which meets when such requests are made. 

 
UK Corporate Governance Code 
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 

 
However, the Code is recognised as good practice, and this Governance Statement demonstrates the clinical commissioning group’s compliance with the 
principles set out in it. For the financial year ended 31 March 2017, and up to the date of signing this statement, the CCG complied with the provisions set 
out in the Code, and applied its principles. In 2016/17 the CCG has identified no instances of non-compliance with the principles of the Code. 

 
Discharge of Statutory Functions 
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it 
by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations.   As a result, I can confirm that the clinical 
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commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 
restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.   Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the 
necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

 

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness 
Robust risk management and internal control measures enable the CCG to achieve an effective corporate governance environment. 

Two organisation-level forms of risk register are in use – the Corporate Risk Register and the Governing Body Assurance Framework. The Governing Body 
Assurance Framework is used by the Governing Body to identify, monitor and evaluate risks to its strategic objectives. It is used alongside other key 
management tools, such as financial reporting, to give the Governing Body a comprehensive picture of the organisational risk profile. The Corporate Risk 
Register outlines operational risks to the objectives of teams and services. Both documents address risk appetite at an individual risk level, by indicating 
whether current ratings are acceptable, and why. In addition, business cases presented to the QIPP & Finance Committee include quality and equality 
impact assessment and potential risks associated with a proposed project or investment. 

 

The CCG has in place a Communications and Engagement Strategy which sets out arrangements to involve the public in the design of services, including in 

identifying and managing risk that has an impact on them. 
 

Capacity to Handle Risk 
The Risk Management Framework and Strategy provide guidance to all staff on the management of strategic and operational risks within the organisation 
and help them to identify, evaluate and reduce the risks that threaten delivery of our key objectives. These documents: 

• Describe the organisation’s accountability framework and reporting structure; 
 

• Describe the principal processes for managing risk, and the tools to be used; 
 

• Provide guidance on the escalation and acceptability (tolerance) of risk at different levels of the organisation; 
 

• Outline risk management responsibilities at all levels of the CCG, and the support/training available within the organisation. 
 

Identified risks are documented and managed through the use of project and programme board risk registers, in line with the risk management strategy. 
The registers are updated monthly for review by the relevant programme board or delegated committee, before escalation to the governing body. 

 

Prevention is embedded in the operation of the CCG through the impact assessment of all policies, practices, procedures and decisions. 
 

Staff are supported to manage risk in a way appropriate to their level of authority and duties. This occurs through the provision of guidance, the regular 
review processes of the strategic and operational risk registers, and through the QIPP Project Management processes. 
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Risk Assessment 
Risk assessment is conducted in a systematic manner across all aspects of the CCG’s strategic and operational goals.   Risk and the CCG’s risk profile is 
managed principally through regular receipt and review of risk registers and risk-related reports by the governing body, and its delegated committees, and 
by the CCG’s care programme boards which in turn report to the QIPP & Finance Committee. 

 
Significant risks faced by the CCG this year have included financial performance, provider performance, provider viability, and failure to meet constitutional 
performance targets. The Governing Body, responsible programme boards and delegated committees have challenged and advised on the controls and 
actions being taken to manage these risks throughout the year. 

 
Other sources of assurance 

 
Internal Control Framework 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and 
objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

 
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

 
The CCG maintains a comprehensive system of internal control through the application of its standing orders, prime financial policies and scheme of 
delegation. 
The Audit Committee routinely considers financial and non-financial reports, including from internal audit, external audit and the local counter fraud 
specialist (LCFS), which enable it to assess the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal control mechanisms. It then provides an opinion to the Governing Body as 
to the adequacy of the assurances available. The Committee has also reviewed the CCG’s Financial Control Environment Assessment and monitors progress 
through the associated action plan. 

 
All risks are managed through a risk register, and all groups reporting to the CCG Governing Body are responsible for highlighting new risks. Throughout 
2016/17, the corporate risk register, in full or in part, and other relevant risk-related reports were reviewed variously by Audit Committee, QIPP & Finance 
Committee, Quality Committee, and the Care Programme Boards. 
Risks to the achievement of the CCG’s strategic objectives are captured in the governing body assurance framework, which was refreshed for 2016/17. A 
summary risk profile based on this is reviewed at each meeting of the Governing Body, together with the high-level risks from the Corporate Risk Register. 
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Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework. 

 

The CCG’s internal auditors have carried out this audit and delivered a conclusion that risk is low in respect of this area. Further details can be found in the 
Head of Internal Audit Report for 2016-17. 

 
Data Quality 
The Council of Members and the Governing Body both receive a variety of financial, performance and quality data to support them in discharging their 
respective responsibilities. 

 
Data quality is reviewed and challenged by CCG staff before presentation to the Governing Body and to the Council of Members, and interrogated by those 
bodies during their meetings. The CCG has no significant concern about data quality overall, but any individual data issues identified are reviewed with the 
source provider. 

 
Information Governance 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in 
particular personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and the 
annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is 
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively 

 
The CCG has achieved Level 2 compliance on the Information Governance Toolkit for 2016-17. 

 

The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate 
information. An information governance management framework and processes and procedures are in place and aligned to the information governance 
toolkit. All staff undertake annual information governance training and a staff information governance handbook is promoted to ensure staff are aware of 
their information governance roles and responsibilities. 

 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. In 2016/17, one incident required reporting to the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO). 

• A member of staff in the CCG's Continuing Healthcare (CHC) team misdirected an email containing patient information to an all-CCG staff email list. 
The incident was reported and investigated in an appropriate and timely way.  The ICO concluded that it would not take regulatory action in this 
instance, but recommended that the CCGs review policies and procedures for handling data in this area and review approach to staff training. Both 
of these actions were undertaken. 
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Information Governance is reported to the Audit Committee as a standing agenda item in each meeting and is reviewed regularly through the CCG 
management meetings. 

 
Business Critical Models 
The CCG is aware of the Macpherson Report on government business critical models and quality assurance mechanisms, and of its findings. The CCG does 
not operate any business critical models as defined in the report. 

 
Third party assurances 
Where the CCG relies on third party providers, it gains assurance through service level agreement and contract specifications; regular review meetings with 
providers on multiple levels; the use of performance data and external regulatory inspection reports; and monitoring and review by appropriate 
programme boards and committees, with onwards reporting in to the Governing Body. 

 
Control Issues 
The CCG reported one item as a high risk area in the Month 9 Governance Statement return – this was in relation to performance against constitutional 
targets. 

 

The Internal Audit Report on Planned Programme Boards also identified a high level risk related to the financial planning associated with the Care Homes 
Project which the CCG agreed and which is further detailed in the Head of Internal Audit Opinion. 

 

No other significant control issues have been identified. 
 

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources 
The CCG has well-established systems and processes for managing its resources effectively, efficiently and economically. 

 

The Governing Body has overarching responsibility for ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place, and delegates responsibilities to the 
Audit Committee, the Quality Committee and the QIPP and Finance Committee. The Chief Finance Officer has delegated responsibility to determine 
arrangements to ensure a sound system of financial control. An audit programme is followed to ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. 

 

The Audit Committee met regularly throughout the 2016/17 financial year to review and monitor the CCG’s financial reporting and internal control 
principles; to ensure that the CCG activities were managed in  accordance with legislation  and regulations governing the NHS; and to ensure that 
appropriate relationships were maintained with internal and external auditors. 

 

The QIPP & Finance Committee met throughout the year to monitor contract and financial performance, the QIPP Plan and overall use of resources; to 
approve QIPP business cases and release of finance from allocated reserves; and to monitor and provide a scrutiny function to ensure the delivery of 
projects within the CCG’s care programme boards. 
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The CCG has processes in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness through its procurement, contract negotiation and contract management 
processes. There are regular performance review meetings on the following contracts: Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (hospital services), Berkshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (community and mental health services), and South Central Ambulance Services. Effectiveness is monitored specifically 
through the quality processes and Quality Committee. 

 

The Chief Finance Officer has met regularly with the CCG’s finance team and held monthly meetings with the CSU’s finance leads to review month-end 
reporting. Regular meetings are also held with the local authorities’ finance leads. 

 

The CCG informs its control framework by the work over the year of the Internal and External Audit functions. As part of their annual audit, the CCG’s 
external auditors are required to satisfy themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
use of its resources. Their audit work is made available to and reviewed by the Joint Audit Committee and Governing Body. 

 

The CCG has attained the following ratings from NHS England against the Quality of Leadership indicator of the CCG Improvement and Assessment 
Framework 2016/17: 

 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

GOOD GOOD GOOD OUTSTANDING 

 
Delegation of functions 
The CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation outline the control mechanisms in place for delegation of functions and can be found in the Constitution. 

 
The Governing Body receives reports from each Committee detailing the delivery of work, and associated risks, within their specific remit. Additionally, the 
Governing Body maintains a high level overview of the organisation’s business and identifies and assesses risks and issues straddling Committees. These 
risks are specifically ‘owned’ and overseen at Governing Body level and scrutinised at each meeting to ensure appropriate management and reporting 

 
The internal audit process is used to provide an in-depth examination of any areas of concern. 

 
Counter fraud arrangements 
The Counter Fraud service for the CCG is provided by the Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who supports organisational compliance with the NHS 
Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption. 
The Chief Finance Officer is the member of the executive board with responsibility for statutory financial duties and corporate governance, including 
counter fraud, bribery and corruption. 
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A counter-fraud and corruption policy is in place. Fraud awareness material, including fraud alerts and information on bribery, is regularly circulated to CCG 
staff. 

 
Fraud referrals are investigated by the LCFS and the progress and results of investigations are reported to the Chief Finance Officer and the Audit 
Committee. 

 
Audit Committee receives a report each meeting against each of the Standards. 

 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads 
within the clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on 
performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other 
reports. 

 

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its 
principles objectives have been reviewed. 

 

My review is also informed by: 
• the reports provided throughout the year to the Governing Body from the relevant delegated committees and programme boards in relation to 

their management of key risks. 
• the reviews, progress reports and opinions provided by our Internal and External Auditors. 
• The work of the Audit Committee. 
• The regular review of the Governing Body Assurance Framework, Summary Risk Profile and Corporate Risk Register. 
• Assurance of our delivery, capability and organisational health gained through quarterly assurance meetings with NHS E. Assurance ratings gained 

through the year to date are: 
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 Q1 NHSE 
Assessment 

Q2 NHSE 
Assessment 

Q3 NHSE 
Assessment 

Q4 NHSE 
Assessment 

  (subject to 
moderation) 

(awaited) 

Better Health GOOD GOOD GOOD GOOD 

Better Care GOOD GOOD GOOD GOOD 

Sustainability REQUIRES 
IMPROVEMENT 

REQUIRES 
IMPROVEMENT 

REQUIRES 
IMPROVEMENT 

REQUIRES 
IMPROVEMENT 

Leadership GOOD GOOD GOOD OUTSTANDING 
 

 
Action plans are implemented and monitored for any area where a need for improvement is identified. 

 
 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an 
independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk management, governance and 
internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion – South Reading CCG 
We are satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow an opinion to be given as to the adequacy and effectiveness of  
governance, risk management and control. In giving this opinion, it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. The most that the internal audit 
service can provide is reasonable assurance that there are no major weaknesses in the system of internal control. 

 
Opinion 
Our opinion is as follows: 

 

Satisfactory Generally satisfactory 
with some 
improvements 
required 

Major improvement 
required 

Unsatisfactory 

 
Governance, risk management and control in relation to business critical areas is generally satisfactory. 
However, there are some areas of weakness and non-compliance in the framework of governance, risk 
management and control which potentially put the achievement of objectives at risk. 

 
Some improvements are required in those areas to enhance the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
framework of governance, risk management and control. 

 
Commentary 

The key factors that contributed to our opinion are summarised as follows: 
 

• Of the nine reviews completed in the year, three have been rated as medium risk overall and six as low risk. We have not raised any high risk rated 
reports in 2016/17. 

 

• In addition to the findings raised in the 2016/17 reviews, our follow up procedures performed in December 2016 identified that of the 36 findings 
followed up 25 had been completed. Whilst this demonstrates progress by management in completing actions to mitigate identified risks, further 
action is required in order to remediate previously identified findings. 

 

• Whilst there have been no high risk reports issued this year, the number of medium rated reports, and one high risk finding raised has led us to 
conclude that the internal controls in place at the CCG are generally satisfactory with some improvements required. We have highlighted below 
specific findings which have contributed to this overall assessment. 
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Planning and Transformation 

 
This review focussed primarily on the Care Homes Project (CHP) QIPP scheme. CHP originally forecast a net saving of £730k in 2016/17, however the 
scheme has so far not delivered the required savings against plan, and has been identified by the QIPP & Finance Committee as a high risk scheme for the 
CCGs. 

 

Our report was rated medium risk overall, and we raised a high risk finding in relation to the financial planning carried out for the CHP: 
 

• Over 80% of the total planned gross savings figure (£1.8m of a total £2.24m) was due to be achieved from an estimated 45% reduction in non- 
elective admissions (NELs). This level of performance was at least partly determined due to reported performance of 60% reductions in the previous 
‘Hospitals @ Home’ scheme run by the CCGs. However, the achievability of this level of performance could have been risk adjusted when  
calculating the savings for the project, particularly as similar schemes nationwide have achieved on average a 30% reduction. 
A key operational challenge highlighted in the business case was recruitment of staff, however there is little explanation in the business case on 
how the CCGs planned to mitigate the risk of delays in recruitment. We would expect that the phasing of the financial savings would reflect these 
operational challenges, preventing a situation where the scheme appears to be failing to achieve planned financial savings at inception when this 
could be predicted or expected. 

 

We recognise that despite the above, the CHP has begun to deliver savings by successfully preventing patient admissions to acute care. In Q1 of 2016/17 
£250k of healthcare costs were avoided due to the intervention of the rapid response team recruited to help deliver the CHP. Moving forward, continued 
monitoring of the performance of CHP is essential for the CCGs to understand whether the scheme provides a return on investment. 

 
Better Care Fund (BCF) 

 

In 2015/16, our report was rated as high risk. In particular, we noted that the planning arrangements were not effective, there was a lack of clarity and 
consistency of governance and decision making arrangements and that reporting required improvement. A key focus of this year’s BCF review was to follow 
up on the two high risk and two medium risk rated findings raised in the 2015/16 report, to understand the progress management have made in 
implementing the agreed actions. Whilst there have been notable improvements to processes since 2015/16, we raised a medium risk finding in relation to 
the residual risk remaining from one of the 2016/17 findings: 

 

• Project planning documentation for 2016/17 BCF projects – We have noted improvement in the project planning for recent BCF schemes, however 
the following issues have been noted; 

o There are instances where there is no performance metrics defined to measure an objective of the project. For example, the Care Home in- 
reach project has an objective to “Ensure the effective use and review of anti-psychotic medication”, however no means to track 
achievement of this objective is identified. 

o Where the project plan identifies a performance metric that is not one of the BCF national metrics, there are instances where the data 
required to track performance is not defined. 
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o The financial planning includes assumptions that are not always supported by evidence e.g. an estimated 30% reduction in clinical testing 

costs but that quantitative data is not available to support these potential savings. 
 

In addition a new medium risk rated finding was raised in 2016-17: 
 

• Assessment of value for money and return on investment when planning BCF allocations - There was a national framework and template developed 
for CCGs to assess BCF schemes to assist in determining whether to continue projects in 2016/17. We identified the following issues in relation to 
this evaluation process: 

o Instances where there was a lack of supporting information to support self-assessment conclusions. 
o The self-assessment reports do not elaborate on how the evaluation scores have been determined. For example, how conclusions on long 

term value for money are supported. 
o The reports do not link the self-assessment scores to performance metrics or financial performance in 2015/16. 

 

The implementation of BCF and integration more broadly is one of the most difficult challenges facing the CCGs. Our discussions with management indicate 
that significant progress has been made to develop key relationships and ways of working across the local health system. BCF planning for 2017/18 should 
focus on identifying where Berkshire West-wide implementation would provide the most effective and efficient use of funds and ensure that the three BCFs 
are aligned to facilitate these economies of scale for relevant projects. 

 
Conflict of Interest (COI) 

 

We performed our COI review in line with NHS England’s revised guidance on managing COIs in CCGs. We identified several low risk control issues that 
management should address, predominantly relating to minor areas where the CCGs’ policies and controls are not yet wholly aligned to the national 
guidance. 
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Conclusion 
No significant internal control issues have been identified. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Cathy Winfield, Chief Officer, 30 May 2017 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S  REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE 
GOVERNING BODY OF NHS SOUTH READING CCG 

 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS South Reading CCG for the year ended 31 
March 2017 on pages 4 to 26 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. These financial 
statements have been prepared under applicable law and the accounting polices directed by 
the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the 
Clinical Commissioning Groups in England. We have also audited the information in the 
Remuneration and Staff Report that is subject to audit. 

 
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS South Reading CCG, 
as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body of the 
CCG, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable  Officer and auditor 

 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibilities, the 
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true 
and fair view and is also responsible for the regularity of expenditure and income. Our 
responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on J'o,uditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors. We are 
also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance 
with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General under the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 ('the Code of Audit  Practice'). 

 
As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable officer is responsible for 
the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's 
resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied 
that proper arrangements are in place. 

 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively. 

 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG's circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the Accountable Officer, and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

 
In addition we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report and 
accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify 
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of 
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report. 

 
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes 
intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern 
them. 
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Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in the use of resources 

 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard 
to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in 
November 2016, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly 
informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for 
taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as 
that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves 
whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, 
in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

 
Opinion on financial statements 

 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

 
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2017 and of its 

net operating expenditure for the year then ended; and 
 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting polices directed by the NHS 

Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to Clinical 
Commissioning  Groups in England. 

 
Opinion on regularity 

 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 

 
Opinion on other matters 

 
In our opinion: 

 
• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been properly prepared 

in accordance with the accounting polices directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with 
the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to Clinical Commissioning Groups in 
England; and 

 
• the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the Annual 

Report and Accounts is consistent with the financial statements. 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 

We are required to report to you if: 
 
• in our opinion, the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with guidance issued 

by the NHS Commissioning Board; 
 
• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of 
the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the 
body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of 
action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency; or 

 
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014; or 
 
• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014; or 
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• we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of the above responsibilities. 

 
Certificate 

 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS South Reading CCG in 
accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code 
of Audit Practice. 

 
 
 

 
Jonathan Brown 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
66 Queen Square 
Bristol 
BS14BE 

 
30 May 2017 
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NHS South Reading Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17 
 

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 
31 March 2017 

 

 
 

2016-17 2015-16 
Note £'000 £'000 

 

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (54) (75) 
Other operating income 2 (454)   (151) 
Total operating income (508) (226) 

Staff costs 4 205  461 
Purchase of goods and services 5 153,682 130,653 
Depreciation and impairment charges 5 0 0 
Provision expense 5 (113) (325) 
Other Operating Expenditure 5 123 661 
Total operating expenditure 153,897 131,450 

 
Net Operating Expenditure 153,389 131,224 

 
Finance income 
Finance expense 10 0 0 
Net expenditure for the year 153,389 131,224 
Net Gain/(Loss) on Transfer by Absorption  0 0 
Total Net Expenditure for the year 153,389 131,224 
Other Comprehensive Expenditure 
Items which will not be reclassified to net operating costs 
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE 0 0 
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Intangibles 0 0 
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Financial Assets 0 0 
Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes 0 0 
Impairments and reversals taken to Revaluation Reserve 0 0 
Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating Costs 0 0 
Net gain/loss on revaluation of available for sale financial assets 0 0 
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0 
Sub total 0 0 

 
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017 153,389 131,224 

 
The CCG achieved a surplus of £2,948k against the revenue resource allocation of £156,337k for 2016-2017 and in 2015-2016 it 
achieved a surplus of £1,398k against resource allocation of £132,622k. 

 
The notes on pages 8 to 26 form part of this statement 
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Statement of Financial Position as at 
31 March 2017 

 
 
 

Non-current assets: 

 
 

2016-17 2015-16 
 

Note £'000 £'000 

Property, plant and equipment 13 0 0 
Intangible assets 14 0 0 
Investment property 15 0 0 
Trade and other receivables 17 0 0 
Other financial assets 18   0    0 
Total non-current assets  0  0 

Current assets: 
Inventories 

 
16 

 
0 

  
0 

Trade and other receivables 17 2,249  1,389 
Other financial assets 18 0  0 
Other current assets 19 0  0 
Cash and cash equivalents 20   0    56 
Total current assets  2,249  1,445 

Non-current assets held for sale 21 0  0 

Total current assets  2,249  1,445 

Total assets  2,249  1,445 
 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

 
 

23 

 
 

(10,466) 

  
 

(8,276) 
Other financial liabilities 24 0  0 
Other liabilities 25 0  0 
Borrowings 26 (183)  0 
Provisions 30   (63)    (330) 
Total current liabilities  (10,712)  (8,606) 

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities  (8,463)  (7,161) 
 
Non-current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

 
 

23 

 
 

0 

  
 

0 
Other financial liabilities 24 0  0 
Other liabilities 25 0  0 
Borrowings 26 0  0 
Provisions 30   (60)    0 
Total non-current liabilities  (60)  0 

Assets less Liabilities  (8,523)  (7,161) 
 
Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity 
General fund 

  
 

(8,523) 

  
 

(7,161) 
Revaluation reserve  0  0 
Other reserves  0  0 
Charitable Reserves    0    0 
Total taxpayers' equity:    (8,523)    (7,161) 

The notes on pages 8 to 26 form part of this statement     
 

The financial statements on pages 4 to 7 were approved by the Audit Committee on behalf of the Governing Body on 18 
May 2017 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 
 

Cathy Winfield 
Chief Officer 
30 May 2017 
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NHS South Reading Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17 
 
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 

 

31 March 2017 

  Revaluation Other Total 

 General fund reserve reserves reserves 
 
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 01 April 2016 (7,161) 0 0 (7,161) 
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS 
bodies 

 
  0 

 
  0 

 
  0 

 
  0 

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2017 (7,161) 0 0 (7,161) 

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17 
Net operating expenditure for the financial year 

 
(153,389) 

   
(153,389) 

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  0  0 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets  0  0 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets    0      0 
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0 

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 
Impairments and reversals 0 0 0 0 
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions 0 0 0 0 
Movements in other reserves 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between reserves 0 0 0 0 
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0 
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies 0 0 0 0 
Reserves eliminated on dissolution   0   0   0   0 
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (153,389) 0 0 (153,389) 

Net funding   152,027   0   0   152,027 

Balance at 31 March 2017   (8,523)   0   0   (8,523) 

   
Revaluation 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 General fund reserve reserves reserves 
 
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 01 April 2015 (5,243) 0 0 (5,243) 
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 
2013 transition 

 
  0 

 
  0 

 
  0 

 
  0 

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2016 (5,243) 0 0 (5,243) 

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16 
Net operating costs for the financial year 

 
(131,224) 

   
(131,224) 

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  0  0 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets  0  0 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets    0      0 
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0 

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 
Impairments and reversals 0 0 0 0 
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions 0 0 0 0 
Movements in other reserves 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between reserves 0 0 0 0 
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0 
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies 0 0 0 0 
Reserves eliminated on dissolution   0   0   0   0 
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (131,224) 0 0 (131,224) 

Net funding   129,306   0   0   129,306 

Balance at 31 March 2016   (7,161)   0   0   (7,161) 

 
 

The notes on pages 8 to 26 form part of this statement 
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NHS South Reading Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17 
 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 

 

31 March 2017 

  2016-17 2015-16 

 Note £'000 £'000 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities    
Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (153,389) (131,224) 
Depreciation and amortisation 5 0 0 
Impairments and reversals 5 0 0 
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption  0 0 
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange  0 0 
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash  0 0 
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash  0 0 
Interest paid  0 0 
Release of PFI deferred credit  0 0 
Other Gains & Losses  0 0 
Finance Costs  0 0 
Unwinding of Discounts  0 0 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  0 0 
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 17 (860) 396 
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets  0 0 
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 23 2,190 1,221 
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities  0 0 
Provisions utilised 30 (94) 0 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 30  (113) (326) 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (152,266) (129,933) 

 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Interest received 

  
0.00 

 
0 

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment  0.00 0 
(Payments) for intangible assets  0.00 0 
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health  0.00 0 
(Payments) for other financial assets  0.00 0 
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)  0.00 0 
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment  0.00 0 
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets  0.00 0 
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health  0.00 0 
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets  0.00 0 
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)  0.00 0 
Loans made in respect of LIFT  0.00 0 
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT  0.00 0 
Rental revenue  0.00 0 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities  0.00 0 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing  (152,266) (129,933) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
Grant in Aid Funding Received 

  
152,027 

 
129,306 

Other loans received  0 0 
Other loans repaid  0 0 
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT  0 0 
Capital grants and other capital receipts  0 0 
Capital receipts surrendered  0 0 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities  152,027 129,306 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 (239) (627) 
 
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 

  
56 683 

 
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies   

  0 0 

 
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year   

  (183) 56 

 
The notes on pages 8 to 26 form part of this statement 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 

1 Accounting Policies 
 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group 
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual 
follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as 
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice  
of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning 
group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are 
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

1.1 Going Concern 
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis (despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 
30 of the Local  Audit and Accountability Act 2014). 
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as 
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents. 
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, 
by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services     
will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. 

1.2 Accounting Convention 
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations 
 

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only   
if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another. 

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group 
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting   
Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions 
(which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their 
transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. 
Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed 
separately from operating costs. 
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to 
income and expenditure entries. 

1.5 Charitable Funds 
Under the provisions of IAS 27: Consolidated & Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under common control with NHS 
bodies are consolidated within the entities’ accounts. 

1.6 Pooled Budgets 
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 
the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled 
budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement. 
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises: 
· The assets the clinical commissioning group controls; 
· The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs; 
· The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and, 
· The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities. 
If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the clinical commissioning 
group recognises: 
· The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets); 
· The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and, 
· The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred. 

1.7 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those    
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period  
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 

1.7.1 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
The Clinical Commissioning Group made no critical judgements in applying accounting policies in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
1.7.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

 
As at the date of the Statement of Financial Position final information on prescribing data was not available. Accruals were made on the basis of 
year to date information that was available, trends in the data and forecasts provided by NHS BSA. 

 
Continuing Healthcare (CHC) - refer to note 30 
An amount of £120k has been included in the provisions relating to the following items: 
CHC Waiting List clients awaiting assessment (backlog of cases arising in 2016/17) £35k 
CHC Appeals (arising in 2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17)  £0k 
PUPoCs additional administrative and assessment costs 2017/18 onwards £84k 
PUPoCs client costs - CCG share of costs 1 Apr 13 onwards £1k 
The final outcome has yet to be determined therefore the resultant financial effects remain uncertain at the year end. 

 
The total cost of all outstanding CHC Waiting List clients’ claims has been calculated using average local current nursing home and homecare 
package weekly costs for NHS CHC Adult Fully Funded clients. Provision has been made at 38% as per the current year’s approval rate for first- 
time applications for CHC funding. 

 
The CHC Appeals provision is calculated on an individual basis for each client appealing against the CCG's decision of non-eligibility. The 
provision is based on the time period from the start-date of the claim up to 31st March 2017 (or RIP date) and either the actual weekly cost where 
known or the current average local nursing home and homecare package weekly costs). As at 31 March 2017 no appeals are being processed   
by South Reading CCG and hence no provision has been made. 

 
All of the Berkshire West CCGs’ previously unassessed periods of care (PUPoC) cases assessment process was completed by the NHS England 
target data of 30 Sept 16. However, work will continue into 2017/18 processing PUPoC clients’ appeals and complaints against the CCG's   
decision of non-eligibility and hence a provision of £84k has been made to fund the additional administrative and assessment costs associated    
with this process for the whole of 2017/18. 

 
NHS England has clarified that it will only fund the costs of successful PUPoC claims up to 31 Mar 2013. CCGs will be liable for funding the 
portion of the claim relating to the period from 1 Apr 2013 onwards. A provision of £1k has therefore been made to cover the potential liability of 
the small number of PUPoC clients who may be found eligible for CHC funding on appeal AND who have incurred costs eligible for 
reimbursement by the CCG relating to the period 1 Apr 2013 onwards. 

 
1.8 Revenue 

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration receivable. 
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Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred. 
1.9 Employee Benefits 
1.9.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including 
bonuses earned but not yet taken. 
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees 
are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period. 

1.9.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 
 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme  
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The 
scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in 
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability 
for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the 
method of payment. 
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme 
assets and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts. The 
assets are measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from 
pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is 
recognised within finance income. The interest cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is 
recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of 
other comprehensive net expenditure. 

1.10 Other Expenses 
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair 
value of the consideration payable. 
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation, 
which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met. 

1.11 Property, Plant & Equipment 
1.11.1 Recognition 

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 
· It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
· It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group; 
· It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 
· The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 
· The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 
· Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are 
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under 
single managerial control; or, 
· Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective 
cost. 
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated 
as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

1.11.2 Valuation 
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset 
and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are 
measured subsequently at valuation. 
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial 
position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment. 
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be 
determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows: 
· Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and, 
· Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost. 
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it 
would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued. 
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. 
Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use. 
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing 
use. 
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously 
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation 
decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation  
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear 
consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other 
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 

1.11.3 Subsequent Expenditure 
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent 
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is 
written-out and charged to operating expenses. 

1.12 Intangible Assets 
1.12.1 Recognition 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the clinical 
commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only: 

 
· When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning group; 
· Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and, 
· Where the cost is at least £5,000. 
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an 
operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of 
hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as 
an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been 
demonstrated: 
· The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use; 
· The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it; 
· The ability to sell or use the intangible asset; 
· How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential; 
· The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and, 
· The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

1.12.2 Measurement 
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria 
above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is 
incurred. 

 
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where no active 
market exists, at the lower of depreciated replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income generating . Internally-developed 
software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances. 

1.13 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments 
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Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated. 
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-   
current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service 
potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic 
benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the  
asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective 
basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. 

 
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible non- 
current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to 
determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually. 
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the 
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise 
from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there 
been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged  
there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve. 

1.14 Donated Assets 
 

Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to Income. They are valued, depreciated and 
impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are as described above for 
purchased assets. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain. 

1.15 Government Grants 
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is recognised only where 
conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain. 

1.16 Non-current Assets Held For Sale 
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met when: 
· The sale is highly probable; 
· The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition; and, 
· Management is committed to the sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of 
classification. 
Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is open 
market value including alternative uses. 
The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount and is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. On disposal, the balance for the asset on the revaluation reserve is transferred to the general 
reserve. 
Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for sale. Instead, it is retained as an 
operational asset and its economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when it is scrapped or demolished. 

1.17 Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases. 

1.17.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the   
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned 
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as 
a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are 
operating or finance leases. 

1.17.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor 
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical commissioning group’s net investment 
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the clinical 
commissioning group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

1.18 Private Finance Initiative Transactions 
HM Treasury has determined that government bodies shall account for infrastructure Private Finance Initiative (PFI) schemes where the 
government body controls the use of the infrastructure and the residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the arrangement as service 
concession arrangements, following the principles of the requirements of IFRIC 12. The clinical commissioning group therefore recognises the 
PFI asset as an item of property, plant and equipment together with a liability to pay for it. The services received under the contract are recorded 
as operating expenses. 
The annual unitary payment is separated into the following component parts, using appropriate estimation techniques where necessary: 
· Payment for the fair value of services received; 
· Payment for the PFI asset, including finance costs; and, 
· Payment for the replacement of components of the asset during the contract ‘lifecycle replacement’. 

1.18.1 Services Received 
The fair value of services received in the year is recorded under the relevant expenditure headings within ‘operating expenses’. 

1.18.2 PFI Asset 
 

The PFI assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, when they come into use. The assets are measured initially at fair value in 
accordance with the principles of IAS17. Subsequently, the assets are measured at fair value, which is kept up to date in accordance with the 
clinical commissioning group’s approach for each relevant class of asset in accordance with the principles of IAS 16. 

1.18.3 PFI Liability 
A PFI liability is recognised at the same time as the PFI assets are recognised. It is measured initially at the same amount as the fair value of the 
PFI assets and is subsequently measured as a finance lease liability in accordance with IAS 17. 
An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening lease liability for the period, and is charged to 
‘finance costs’ within the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 
The element of the annual unitary payment that is allocated as a finance lease rental is applied to meet the annual finance cost and to repay the 
lease liability over the contract term. 
An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. In accordance with IAS 17, this 
amount is not included in the minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. In substance, this 
amount is a finance cost in respect of the liability and the expense is presented as a contingent finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure. 

1.18.4 Lifecycle Replacement 
Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised where they meet the clinical 
commissioning group’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator and are measured 
initially at their fair value. 
The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of the contract from the operator’s 
planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term finance lease 
liability or prepayment is recognised respectively. 
Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined in the contract, the difference is recognised as an expense 
when the replacement is provided. If the fair value is greater than the amount determined in the contract, the difference is treated as a ‘free’ asset 
and a deferred income balance is recognised. The deferred income is released to the operating income over the shorter of the remaining contract 
period or the useful economic life of the replacement component. 

1.18.5 Assets Contributed by the Clinical Commissioning Group to the Operator For Use in the Scheme 
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Assets contributed for use in the scheme continue to be recognised as items of property, plant and equipment in the clinical commissioning 
group’s Statement of Financial Position. 

1.18.6 Other Assets Contributed by the Clinical Commissioning Group to the Operator 
Assets contributed (e.g. cash payments, surplus property) by the clinical commissioning group to the operator before the asset is brought into use, 
which are intended to defray the operator’s capital costs, are recognised initially as prepayments during the construction phase of the contract. 
Subsequently, when the asset is made available to the clinical commissioning group, the prepayment is treated as an initial payment towards the 
finance lease liability and is set against the carrying value of the liability. 

1.19 Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is considered to be a reasonable 
approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks. 

1.20 Cash & Cash Equivalents 
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents 
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value. 
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an 
integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management. 

1.21 Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting 
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows: 
· Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (previously: minus 1.55%) 
· Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (previously: minus 1.%) 
· Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (previously: minus 0.80%) 

 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has 
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features    
to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are 
those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity. 

1.22 Clinical Negligence Costs 
 

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the   
NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS 
Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group. 

1.23 Non-clinical Risk Pooling 
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives 
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are 
charged to operating expenses as and when they become due. 

1.24 Continuing healthcare risk pooling 
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. 
Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims. 

1.25 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme 
 

Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible assets if they are not expected 
to be realised within twelve months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are valued at open market value. As the clinical commissioning 
group makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an offsetting transfer from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender of the 
allowances. The asset, provision and deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

1.26 Contingencies 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non- 
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is 
not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be 
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote. 
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value. 

1.27 Financial Assets 
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the 
asset has been transferred. 
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 
· Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss; 
· Held to maturity investments; 
· Available for sale financial assets; and, 
· Loans and receivables. 
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

1.27.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose 
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any 
resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates 
any interest earned on the financial asset. 
[Disclose how fair value is determined.] 

1.27.2 Held to Maturity Assets 
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

1.27.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets 
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the 
other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the 
exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition. 

1.27.4 Loans & Receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After 
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the 
effective interest method. 
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques. 
[Disclose valuation techniques as appropriate.] 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the 
initial fair value of the financial asset. 
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At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value 
through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the asset. 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in 
expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables. 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of 
the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not    been 
recognised. 

1.28 Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de- 
recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired. 

1.28.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities 
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of: 
· The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and, 
· The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets. 

1.28.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose    
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any 
resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the 
financial liability. 

 
1.28.3 Other Financial Liabilities 

 
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from 
Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash    
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

1.29 Value Added Tax 
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of 
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

1.3 Foreign Currencies 
The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are 
translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated  
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are  
recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise. 

1.31 Third Party Assets 
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the clinical commissioning 
group has no beneficial interest in them. 

1.32 Losses & Special Payments 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed 
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the 
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. 
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would 
have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums 
then being included as normal revenue expenditure). 

1.33 Subsidiaries 
 

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise control so as to obtain economic or other benefits are 
classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their income and expenses; gains and losses; assets, liabilities and reserves; and cash flows are 
consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s 
accounting policies are not aligned with the clinical commissioning group or where the subsidiary’s accounting date is not co-terminus. 
Subsidiaries that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 

1.34 Associates 
 

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise significant influence so as to obtain economic or other 
benefits are classified as associates and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts using the equity method. The investment  
is recognised initially at cost and is adjusted subsequently to reflect the clinical commissioning group’s share of the entity’s profit/loss and other 
gains/losses. It is also reduced when any distribution is received by the clinical commissioning group from the entity. 
Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 

1.35 Joint Ventures 
Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other parties so as to obtain economic or other 
benefits are classified as joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 
Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 

1.36 Joint Operations 
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction with one or more other parties but which are not 
performed through a separate entity. The clinical commissioning group records its share of the income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets 
and liabilities; and cash flows. 

1.37 Research & Development 
 

Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as development expenditure relates to a 
clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future 
benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to 
benefit from the project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation. 

1.38 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17, all of which 
are subject to consultation: 
· IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018) 
· IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts ( not applicable to DH groups bodies) 
· IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018) 
· IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019) 

 
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016-17, were they applied in that year. 

12 
 



NHS South Reading Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17 
 

2 Other Operating Revenue 
2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2015-16 

Total 
£'000 

Admin 

£'000 

Programme 

£'000 

Total 

£'000 
 

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 0  0 0  0 
Patient transport services 0  0 0  0 
Prescription fees and charges 0  0 0  0 
Dental fees and charges 0  0 0  0 
Education, training and research 0  0 0  0 
Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: NHS 0  0 0  0 
Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS 0  0 0  0 
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity 0  0 0  0 
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions 0  0 0  0 
Non-patient care services to other bodies 54  0 54  75 
Continuing Health Care risk pool contributions 0  0 0  0 
Income generation 0  0 0  0 
Rental revenue from finance leases 0  0 0  0 
Rental revenue from operating leases 0  0 0  0 
Other revenue 454  0 454  151 
Total other operating revenue 508  0 508  226 

 
Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services. 

 

Other Operating Revenue (non-patient care services to other bodies) includes income from Newbury and District CCG, North and West 
Reading CCG and South Reading CCG for a fair share of costs incurred by Wokingham CCG related to the shared CCG management 
functions that it hosts. 

 
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG 
and credited to the General Fund. 

 
3 Revenue 

2016-17 2016-17  2016-17 2015-16 
Total Admin  Programme Total 
£'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 

From rendering of services  508  0 508 226 
From sale of goods   0   0 0   0 
Total   508   0 508   226 

 
Revenue is from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods. 
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers 
 

4.1.1 Employee benefits  2016-17 

Total 

Total 
 
 

Permanent 
Employees Other 

 
Employee Benefits 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Salaries and wages 164 164 0 
Social security costs 18 18 0 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 23 23 0 
Other pension costs 0 0 0 
Other post-employment benefits 0 0 0 
Other employment benefits 0 0 0 
Termination benefits  0 0 0 
Gross employee benefits expenditure  205 205 0 

 
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)  0 0 0 
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs  205 205 0 

 
Less: Employee costs capitalised  0 0 0 
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs  205 205 0 

 
Employee benefits relate to staff employed by the CCG including staff working on continuing healthcare (CHC) 
assessment and administration. The majority of staff work for all 4 CCGs in Berkshire West and their costs are recharged 
on a gross basis.  Until 31 March 2016, the CHC staff were employed by Windsor, Ascot and Maidenhead CCG and 
recharges were accounted for on a net basis. 

 

4.1.1 mployee benefits  2015-16 

Total 

Total 
 
 

Permanent 
Employees Other 

 
Employee Benefits 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Salaries and wages 397 275 122 
Social security costs 24 24 0 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 40 40 0 
Other pension costs 0 0 0 
Other post-employment benefits 0 0 0 
Other employment benefits 0 0 0 
Termination benefits  0 0 0 
Gross employee benefits expenditure  461 339 122 

 
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)  0 0 0 
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs  461 339 122 

 
Less: Employee costs capitalised  0 0 0 
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs  461 339 122 

 
4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 
There were no recoveries in respect of employee benefits in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 
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4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 
There were no recoveries in respect of employee benefits in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
4.2 Average number of people employed 

 

 
2016-17 

Permanently 

 

 
2015-16 

Total employed Other Total 
Number Number Number Number 

Total 4 4 0 4 

Of the above: 
Number of whole time equivalent people 
engaged on capital projects 0 0 0 0 

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements 
2016-17 2015-16 
Number Number 

Total Days Lost 26.6 10.0 
Total Staff Years  4.5 4.1  
Average working Days Lost  5.9 2.4  

 
Total Staff Years is a metric used to average the Total Day Losts due to sickness absence: it is a close approximation to WTE  
( Whole Time Equivalent). 

 
 
 
Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds 

2016-17 
Number 

0 

2015-16 
Number 

0 

 
Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year 

£'000 
0 

£'000 
0 

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme   
 

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year 
The Clinical commissioning Group had no exit packages agreed in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
4.5 Pension costs 

 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable 
and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded 
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify 
their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable   
to that scheme for the accounting period. 

 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that  
would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that "the period between formal 
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years". An outline of these follows: 

 
a) Accounting valuation 

 
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) 
as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction 
with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust 
figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on valuation data as   
31 March 2016, updated to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial 
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM 
Treasury have also been used. 

 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the    
annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions 
website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

 
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

 
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into 
account their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

 
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 
2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health,  
with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and 
employer representatives as deemed appropriate. 

 

The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from 
April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public 
Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contrbution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% 
of pay. Subject to this 'employer cost cap' assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be 
determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders. 

 
For 2016-17, employers’ contributions of £54,041 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2015-16: £54,971) were 
payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. These costs are included in the NHS pension 
line of note 4.1. 
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5. Operating expenses 
 
 

Gross employee benefits 

 
 

2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2015-16 
Total Admin Programme Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 122 122 0  379 
Executive governing body members   83   83 0    82 
Total gross employee benefits   205   205 0    461 

Other costs 
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 

 
2,051 

  
2,080 

 
(29) 

  
1,540 

Services from foundation trusts 99,237  0 99,237  95,143 
Services from other NHS trusts 948  0 948  1,551 
Services from other WGA bodies 0  0 0  0 
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 17,066  0 17,066  15,529 
Chair and Non Executive Members 327  327 0  323 
Supplies and services – clinical 186  0 186  100 
Supplies and services – general 192  10 182  81 
Consultancy services 11  11 0  0 
Establishment 191  32 159  229 
Transport 0  0 0  0 
Premises 238  71 167  228 
Impairments and reversals of receivables 26  0 26  0 
Inventories written down and consumed 0  0 0  0 
Depreciation 0  0 0  0 
Amortisation 0  0 0  0 
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment 0  0 0  0 
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets 
Impairments and reversals of financial assets 
· Assets carried at amortised cost 

0 
 

0 

 0 
 

0 

0 
 

0 

 0 
 

0 
· Assets carried at cost 0  0 0  0 
· Available for sale financial assets 0  0 0  0 
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale 0  0 0  0 
Impairments and reversals of investment properties 0  0 0  0 
Audit fees 
Other non statutory audit expenditure 
· Internal audit services 

56 
 

0 

 56 
 

0 

0 
 

0 

 56 
 

0 
· Other services 1  1 0  1 
General dental services and personal dental services 0  0 0  0 
Prescribing costs 14,892  0 14,892  14,679 
Pharmaceutical services 0  0 0  0 
General ophthalmic services 0  0 0  0 
GMS/PMS and APMS 18,105  0 18,105  747 
Other professional fees excl. audit 150  128 22  90 
Grants to Other bodies 26  0 26  112 
Clinical negligence 0  0 0  0 
Research and development (excluding staff costs) 0  0 0  0 
Education and training 36  25 11  104 
Change in discount rate 0  0 0  0 
Provisions (113)  0 (113)  (325) 
Funding to group bodies   0 0  0 
CHC Risk Pool contributions 322  0 322  804 
Other expenditure   (256)    (262) 6    (3) 
Total other costs   153,692    2,479 151,213    130,989 

Total operating expenses 153,897  2,684 151,213  131,450 
 

The increase in reported expenditure within "GMS/PMS and APMS" of £17.4m relates to the CCG being required to pay over and account for all CCG listed GP Practice 
Contract payments (DCC - Delegated Co-Commissioning). The previous accounting and pay over responsibility resided with NHS England until 31st March 2016. 

 
The Provisions expenditure negative balance (£113k) is the partly due to the release of the previously held CHC Provision for the prior year's (2015-16) view of cases entitled  
to funding. The decrease in the provision is also due in part to the re-allocation of the movement between other Federated CCGs. 

 
The CCG is required to contribute to an NHS England risk pool in relation to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to previously unassessed periods of care (PUPoCs) 
which occurred prior to the establishment of the CCG. In 2016-2017 the CCG contribution was £322k compared to a higher figure in 2015-16 of £804k. 
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code 

Measure of compliance 

 
 
 
 

2016-17 

 
 
 
 

2016-17 

 
 
 
 

2015-16 

 
 
 
 

2015-16 

 Number £'000 Number £'000 
Non-NHS Payables     
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 3,451 17,461 3,374 13,279 
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target   3,157 16,907     3,083     12,889   
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target   91.48% 96.83% 91.38% 97.06% 

 
NHS Payables 
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,067 100,442 1,950 92,620 
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target   1,999 101,218     1,802     91,962   
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target   96.71% 100.77% 92.41% 99.29% 

 
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 
30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 

 

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no costs related to the late payment of commercial debt in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
7 Income Generation Activities 
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not undertake any income generation activities (2015/16 £nil). 

 
8. Investment revenue 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no investment income in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
9. Other gains and losses 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other gains and losses in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
10. Finance costs 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no finance costs in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no recognised net gain/(loss) on transfer in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 
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Sub-lease payments   0 0 0 0   0 0 0 0 
Total   0 234 0 234   0 224 3 227 
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12. Operating Leases 

 
12.1 As lessee 

    
 
 
 
 

2015-16 12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense   2016-17 
Land Buildings Other  Total Land  Buildings Other  Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000  £'000 

Payments recognised as an expense          
Minimum lease payments 0 234  0 234  0 224  3 227 
Contingent rents 0 0  0 0  0 0  0 0 

 
 

While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future years has not yet been 
agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements. “The amounts included are the CCG’s fair share of 
the charges made by NHS Property services for administrative property, void space in clinical estate and any historic subsidisation of provider organisation 
occupancy of NHSPS owned clinical estate.” 

 
12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments    2016-17    2015-16 

 Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Payable:         No later than one year 0 0 0 0 0 - - 0 
Between one and five years 0 0 0 0 0 - - 0 
After five years   0 0 0 0   0 - - 0 
Total   0 0 0 0   0 0 0 0 

12.2 As lessor 
There were no rental revenues recognised as income in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil) 

 
13 Property, plant and equipment 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no Intangible non current assets at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
14 Intangible non-current assets 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no Intangible non current assets at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
15 Investment property 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no investment property as at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
16 Inventories 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no inventories as at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 
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17  Trade and other receivables Current 
2016-17 

£'000 

Non-current 
2016-17 

£'000 

 Current 
2015-16 

£'000 

Non-current 
2015-16 

£'000 

 

 

NHS receivables: Revenue 
 

1,221  
 

0 
 

299   

0 
NHS receivables: Capital 0  0 0  0 
NHS prepayments 870  0 797  0 
NHS accrued income 35  0 198  0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 121  0 72  0 
Non-NHS  and Other WGA receivables: Capital 0  0 0  0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 0  0 0  0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 0  0 18  0 
Provision for the impairment of receivables 0  0 0  0 
VAT 2  0 5  0 

 

Private finance initiative and other public private partnership 
arrangement prepayments and accrued income 

 
 

0 
  

 
0 

 
 

0 
  

 
0 

Interest receivables 0  0 0  0 
Finance lease receivables 0  0 0  0 
Operating lease receivables 0  0 0  0 
Other receivables and accruals   0   0 0   0 
Total Trade & other receivables   2,249   0 1,389   0 

Total current and non current 2,249 1,389  
 
Included above: 
Prepaid pensions contributions 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 

 
The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to clinical 
commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary. 

 

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2016-17 2015-16 
£'000 £'000 

 

By up to three months 1,217 143 
By three to six months 1 0 
By more than six months   37 1 
Total 1,255 144 

 
£1,178k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the Statement of Financial Position date. 

 
 

17.2 Provision for impairment of receivables 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no provision for impairment of receivables at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
18 Other financial assets 
The Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold other financial assets at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
19 Other current assets 
No other current assets were held by the Clinical Commissioning Group at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 
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20 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 
 
 

2016-17 

  
 
 
 

2015-16 
 
Balance at 01 April 2016 

£'000 
56 

 £'000 
683 

Net change in year   (239)    (627) 
Balance at 31 March 2017   (183)    56 

Made up of: 
Cash with the Government Banking Service 

 
(0) 

  
56 

Cash with Commercial banks 0  0 
Cash in hand 0  0 
Current investments   0    0 
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 0  56 

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service (183)  0 
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks   0    0 
Total bank overdrafts (183)  0 

Balance at 31 March 2017 (183)  56 
 

21 Non-current assets held for sale 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no Non-current assets held for sale at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
22 Analysis of impairments and reversals 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no impairments and reversals in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 

 
23 Trade and other payables 

Current 
2016-17 

£'000 

Non-current 
2016-17 

£'000 

Current 
2015-16 

£'000 

Non-current 
2015-16 

£'000 

Interest payable 0 0 0 0 
NHS payables: revenue 1,019 0 871 0 
NHS payables: capital 0 0 0 0 
NHS accruals 3,069 0 359 0 
NHS deferred income 0 0 0 0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 1,739 0 2,049 0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital 0 0 0 0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 3,485 0 4,745 0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income 0 0 0 0 
Social security costs 7 0 5 0 
VAT 0 0 0 0 
Tax 9 0 8 0 
Payments received on account 0 0 0 0 
Other payables and accruals   1,138   0   239   0 
Total Trade & Other Payables 10,466 0 8,276 0 

Total current and non-current 10,466  8,276  
 

No other liabilities in respect of payments due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5 years. 

Other payables include £10k outstanding pension contributions at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £46k). 

24 Other financial liabilities 
There were no other financial liabilities at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
25 Other liabilities 
There were no other liabilities at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
26 Borrowings 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no Borrowings as at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 

The £183k Borrowings figure is a GBS (Governement Banking System) Financial Ledger overdraft. This reflects the timing difference between 
when payment runs are approved pre 31st March but had yet to clear the GBS bank account until post 1st April. The balance at the bank 
(statement balance) was not overdrawn and was within the NHS cash holding guidelines as at 31st March 2017. 

 

27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangements in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
28 Finance lease obligations 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no Finance Lease obligations in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil) 

 
29 Finance lease receivables 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no Finance Lease receivables in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil) 
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30  Provisions               
 
 
Pensions relating to former directors 

Current 
2016-17 

£'000 

 
 

0 

Non-current 
2016-17 

£'000 
0 

Current 
2015-16 

£'000 
0 

Non-current 
2015-16 

£'000 

 
 
0 

Pensions relating to other staff  0 0 0  0 
Restructuring  0 0 0  0 
Redundancy  0 0 0  0 
Agenda for change  0 0 0  0 
Equal pay  0 0 0  0 
Legal claims  0 0 0  0 
Continuing care  60 60 327  0 
Other  3 0 3 0  
Total 63 60 330 0         
Total current and non-current 123  330            

Pensions            
 Relating to Pensions            Former Relating to   Agenda for    Continuing     Directors Other Staff Restructuring Redundancy Change  Equal Pay Legal Claims Care Other  Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 

Balance at 01 April 2016 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 327  3 330 

Arising during the year 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 211  0 211 
Utilised during the year 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 (94)  0 (94) 
Reversed unused 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 (324)  0 (324) 
Unwinding of discount 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 0  0 0 
Change in discount rate 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 0  0 0 
Transfer (to) from other public sector body 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 0  0 0 
Transfer (to) from other public sector body under absorption 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  
Balance at 31 March 2017  0 0 0    0 0 0 120  3 123 

Expected timing of cash flows: 
Within one year   

0 
 

0 
 

0     
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
60   

3 
 

63 
Between one and five years  0 0 0    0 0 0 60  0 60 
After five years  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  
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0 
 

0 
0 

 
Balance at 31 March 2017  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 120 3 123  

 
Continuing care provision relates to amounts set aside for: continuing care Waiting List clients awaiting assessment at 31 March 2017, administrative and assessment costs associated with previously unassessed periods of care 
(PUPoC) claims, and PUPoC live clients' costs from 1st April 2013 onwards. 

 
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of 
the clinical commissioning group (PUPoC claims). However, the legal liability and the responsibility for processing and assessing the claims remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare contingent 
liability accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2017 is £64k. 

 
£Nil is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority as at 31 March 2016 in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the clinical commissioning group. 
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31 Contingencies 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no contingent liabilities nor contingent assets at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
32 Commitments 

 
32.1 Capital commitments 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no capital commitments at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
32.2 Other financial commitments 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had not entered into non-cancellable contracts in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
33 Financial instruments 

 
33.1 inancial risk management 

 

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or 
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. 

 
Because the Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed 
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest 
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks 
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities. 

 

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the Clinical 
Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by 

 

33.1.1 Currency risk 
 

The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being 
in the UK and sterling based. The Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The Clinical Commissioning Group and 
therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 

 

33.1.2 terest rate risk 
 

The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. 
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, 
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

 

33.1.3 Credit risk 
 

Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, the Clinical Commissioning Group 
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed 
in the trade and other receivables note. 

 

33.1.3 Liquidity risk 
 

The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The Clinical 
Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks. 
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33 Financial instruments cont'd 
 

33.2 Financial assets 

 
At ‘fair value 

through profit 
and loss’ 

 
Loans and 

Receivables 

 
Available for 

Sale Total 
2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0 0 
Receivables: 
· NHS 0 1,255 0 1,255 
· Non-NHS 0 121 0 121 
Cash at bank and in hand 0 0 0 0 
Other financial assets   0   0   0   0   
Total at 31 March 2017   0   1,376   0   1,376 

 At ‘fair value 
through profit 

 
Loans and 

 
Available for 

 

 and loss’ 
2015-16 

£'000 

Receivables 
2015-16 

£'000 

Sale 
2015-16 

£'000 

Total 
2015-16 

£'000 

Embedded derivatives 
Receivables: 
· NHS 

0 
 

0 

0 
 

497 

0 
 

0 

0 
 

497 
· Non-NHS 0 90 0 90 
Cash at bank and in hand 0 56 0 56 
Other financial assets   0   0   0   0 
Total at 31 March 2017   0   643   0   643 

 
33.3 Financial liabilities 

 
    

      
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Embedded derivatives 
Payables: 
· NHS 

0 
 

0 

0 
 

4,089 

 
 

 
· Non-NHS 0 6,361  
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations 0 0  
Other borrowings 0 183  
Other financial liabilities   0   0    
Total at 31 March 2017   0   10,633    

 At ‘fair value 
through profit 

and loss’ 

 
 

Other 

 
 

 

 2015-16 
£'000 

2015-16 
£'000 

 
 

Embedded derivatives 
Payables: 
· NHS 

0 
 

0 

0 
 

1,230 

 
 

 
· Non-NHS 0 7,033  
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations 0 0  
Other borrowings 0 0  
Other financial liabilities   0   0    
Total at 31 March 2017   0   8,263    

 
34 Operating segments 
The clinical commissioning group and consolidated group consider they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services. 

 

  
Gross 

expenditure 
£'000 

 
 

Income 
£'000 

 
Net 

expenditure 
£'000 

 
 

Total assets 
£'000 

 
Total 

liabilities 
£'000 

 
 

Net assets 
£'000 

 
Commissioning of Healthcare 

 
153,897 

 
(508) 

 
153,389 

 
2,249 

 
(10,772) 

 
(8,523) 
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Income 
2015-16 

£'000 

Expenditure 
2015-16 

£'000 

Under/(Over) 
Spend 
£'000 

6,790 (6,701) 89 
 

Income 
2015-16 

£'000 

Expenditure 
2015-16 

£'000 

Under/(Over) 
Spend 
£'000 

697 (697) - 
 

Income 
2015-16 

£'000 

Expenditure 
2015-16 

£'000 
 

4,595 
1,498 

 
(4,597) 
(1,407) 

6,093 (6,004) 
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35 Pooled budgets 
 
 Income 

2016-17 
£'000 

Expenditure 
2016-17 

£'000 

Under/(Over) 
Spend 
£'000 

Total Pooled Budgets 7,241 (7,220) 21 
Community Equipment Store 
The Clinical Commissioning Group has a pooled budget arrangement with the 6 other CCGs and the 6 Local Authorities in 
Berkshire. The Pool is hosted by West Berkshire Council. 

 
 Income 

2016-17 
£'000 

Expenditure 
2016-17 

£'000 

Under/(Over) 
Spend 
£'000 

Community Equipment Stores 716 (716) - 
Better Care Fund Pooled Budget 

 

The CCG is involved in a number of pooled budget arrangements associated with the Better Care Fund, which are designed to 
facilitate greater integration of health and social care. These budget are pooled under the arrangements under Section 75 of the NHS 
Act 2006 for joint commissioning arrangements. 

 

The CCG's contribution and share of the expenditure is shown below; 
 
 Income 

2016-17 
£'000 

Expenditure 
2016-17 

£'000 

Under/(Over) 
Spend 
£'000 

Pooled Budget with Reading Borough Council and North 
and West Reading CCG 

Pooled Budget with Berkshire West CCGs and Councils 

 
3,687 
2,838 

 
(3,680) 
(2,824) 

 
7 

14 
Better Care Fund 6,525 (6,504) 21 

 

 
Although the pooled budget was underspent in 2016-2017, the CCG did not hold any cash balance in relation to the Better 
Care Fund. The CCG only drew down sufficient cash to make supplier payments in line with activity that was delivered. 

 

36 NHS Lift investments 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no NHS LIFT investments in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 
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37 Related party transactions 
 

During the year none of the board members of the governing body or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, 
 

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows: 
 

 
 

Member 

 
 

Related Party 

2016-17 2015-16 

Payments 
to Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party 

Net 
Payments to 

Related Party 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 
Dr Helen George Governing Body GP Member 

 
GP Melrose Surgery  

1,012 
 

- 
 

23 
 

- 
 

79 
 
Dr Kajal Patel Governing Body GP Member 

 
GP Reading Walk-in Centre  

2,035 
 

- 
 

162 
 

- 
 

20 
 
Dr Aparna Balaji Governing Body GP Member 

 
GP Melrose Surgery  

1,012 
 

- 
 

23 
 

- 
 

79 
 
Dr Aparna Balaji Governing Body GP Member 

 
GP Reading Walk-in Centre  

2,035 
 

- 
 

162 
 

- 
 

20 
 
Dr Rosemary Croft Governing Body GP Member 

Salaried GP Milman Rd Health Centre 
(Member of Assura Reading LLP) 

 
697 

 
- 

  
- 

 
108 

Dr Ishak Nadeem - CCG Chair and Governing Body 
GP Member 

GP Director South Reading and 
Shinfield Practice Invicom Ltd 

 
1,011 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Dr Bu Thava - Governing Body GP Member 

 
GP Partner Milman Road Surgery  

1,294 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 

 
GP practices within the area have joined other professionals in the Clinical Commissioning Group in order to plan, design and pay for services. 
Under these arrangements some services are designed to be delivered in a primary care setting. This involves paying GP practices for the 
delivery of these services. A GP is also paid by the CCG for taking a lead role on clinical services. All such arrangements are in the ordinary 
course of business and follow the CCGs strict governance and accountability arrangements. From 1 April 2016, the CCG had delegated 
commissioning responsibility for primary care GP services. This means that the CCG now makes all payments due to practices based on the 
Statement of Financial Entitlement and the Premises Direction and this has resulted In a significant increase in the amounts recorded against 
practice based Governing Body members. Material transactions are disclosed appropriately in the accounts. 

 
The amounts in the table above represent the amounts paid to organisations named rather than the individual. Where 

 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of 
• Clinical Commissioning Groups 
• NHS England; 
• NHS Foundation Trusts; 
• NHS Trusts; 
• NHS Litigation Authority; and, 
• NHS Business Services Authority. 

 
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and 
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38 Events after the end of the reporting period 
 

During 2015-16 and 2016-17, the 4 CCGs in Berkshire West worked with Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust, Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust and local GPs to develop the Berkshire West Accountable Care System (ACS).  The Berkshire West ACS has now been 
selected as a potential early adopter of the new models of care and the new contract models outlined in the NHS Five Year Forward View.  The 
CCGs have also been working with other NHS organisations in Berkshire West, Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire within the STP to explore 
transformation opportunities across a wider geography. 

 
39.1 Losses and special payments - see Accountability Losses 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no losses and special payments in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil) 

 

 
 

Total Number 
of Cases 

 
Total Value of 

Cases 

Total 
Number of 

Cases 

 
Total Value of 

Cases 
2016-17 2016-17 2015-16 2015-16 
Number £'000 Number £'000 

Administrative write-offs 1 26 0 0 
 

Total 1 26 0 0 
 

The Administrative write-offs figure contains £26k which was written off as uncollectable as part the 50% risk sharing arrangement with Royal 
Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust for OSV - Non EEA ( Overseas Visitors - outside European Economic Area) who are required to pay for NHS 
treatments received. 

 
40 Third party assets 
There were no third party assets held at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
41 Financial performance targets 

 
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows: 
 

 
 
Expenditure not to exceed income 

2016-17 
Target 

156,845 

2016-17 
Performance 

153,897 

2015-16 
Target 
132,848 

2015-16 
Performance 

131,449 

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

0 
 

156,337 

0 
 

153,389 

0 
 

132,622 

0 
 

131,244 
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 

 
2,686 

 
2,685 

 
2,929 

 
2,632 

 
42 Impact of IFRS 
The Clinical Commissioning Group has not been impacted by IFRS in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 

 
43 Analysis of charitable reserves 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no charitable reserves in 2016/17 (2015/16 £nil). 
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